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Bayer continues on a path of growth



� Bayer Group Key Data 

2nd Quarter
2006

2nd Quarter
2007

Change 1st Half
2006

1st Half
2007

Change Full Year 
2006

€ million € million % € million € million % € million

Net sales 6,736 8,217 + 22.0 13,527 16,552 + 22.4 28,956

Change in sales

  Volume + 4% + 5% + 4% + 6% + 5%

  Price  0% + 1% + 1% 0% 0%

  Currency 0% – 3% + 3% – 4% 0%

  Portfolio + 2% + 19% + 1% + 20% + 12%

EBITDA1 1,269 1,572 + 23.9 2,705 3,346 + 23.7 4,675

Special items (34) (234) (162) (450) (909)

EBITDA before special items 1,303 1,806 + 38.6 2,867 3,796 + 32.4 5,584

EBITDA margin before special items 19.3% 22.0% 21.2% 22.9% 19.3%

EBIT2 877 917 + 4.6 1,926 2,092 + 8.6 2,762

Special items (34) (268) (162) (468) (717)

EBIT before special items 911 1,185 + 30.1 2,088 2,560 + 22.6 3,479

EBIT margin before special items 13.5% 14.4% 15.4% 15.5% 12.0%

Non-operating result (228) (257) – 12.7 (438) (475) – 8.4 (782)

Net income 452 660 + 46.0 1,052 3,469 • 1,683

Earnings per share (€)3 0.60 0.83 1.41 4.27 2.22

Core earnings per share (€)4 0.74 1.03 1.74 2.28 3.24

Gross cash flow5 928 1,187 + 27.9 2,017 2,598 + 28.8 3,913

Net cash flow6 882 816 – 7.5 920 1,191 + 29.5 3,928

Cash outflows for capital expenditures 340 440 + 29.4 759 641 – 15.5 1,876

Research and development expenses 439 650 + 48.1 853 1,275 + 49.5 2,297

Depreciation and amortization 392 655 + 67.1 779 1,254 + 61.0 1,913

Number of employees at end of period7 105,700 104,600 – 1.0 105,700 104,600 – 1.0 106,000

Personnel expenses 1,475 1,894 + 28.4 2,961 3,792 + 28.1 6,630

2006 figures restated
1 �EBITDA = EBIT plus amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment. EBITDA, EBITDA before special items and EBITDA margin are not defined in the  

International Financial Reporting Standards and should therefore be regarded only as supplementary information. The company considers underlying EBITDA to be a more suitable indicator of  
operating performance since it is not affected by depreciation, amortization, write-downs/write-backs or special items. The company also believes that this indicator gives readers a clearer picture 
of the results of operations and ensures greater comparability of data over time. The underlying EBITDA margin is calculated by dividing underlying EBITDA by sales. See also page 31.

2 �EBIT as shown in the income statement
3 �Earnings per share as defined in IAS 33 = net income divided by the average number of shares. For details see page 42.
4 �Core earnings per share is not defined in the International Financial Reporting Standards and should therefore be regarded only as supplementary information. The company believes that this  

indicator gives readers a clearer picture of the results of operations and ensures greater comparability of data over time. The calculation of core earnings per share is explained on page 33.
5 �Gross cash flow = income after taxes from continuing operations plus income taxes, plus/minus non-operating result, minus income taxes paid, plus depreciation, amortization and write-downs, 

minus write-backs, plus/minus changes in pension provisions, minus gains/plus losses on retirements of noncurrent assets, plus non-cash effects of the remeasurement of acquired assets. The 
change in pension provisions includes the elimination of non-cash components of the operating result. It also contains benefit payments during the year. For details see page 26 f.

6 �Net cash flow = cash flow from operating activities according to IAS 7
7 �Number of employees in full-time equivalents
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Cover picture 
The Bayer Group’s economic success is substantially founded upon its innovative capability and 
long-term strategic orientation. The acquisition of Schering, Berlin, Germany, further expands  
the HealthCare business, and that subgroup’s research and development pipeline is well stocked, 
with more than 50 ongoing projects. One of these is the active ingredient rivaroxaban, currently  
in advanced clinical testing for the prevention and treatment of acute and chronic thrombosis.  
This substance achieved very good results in a recent Phase iii study. The picture shows Bayer 
HealthCare scientist Dr. Susanne Röhrig in the research laboratory. For further details see the 
news item on page 51.
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•	 Sales up 22.0 percent to €8.2 billion

•	� ebitda before special items improves by 38.6 percent to 

€1.8 billion

•	 ebit before special items rises 30.1 percent to €1.2 billion 

•	 Net income advances by 46.0 percent to €0.7 billion

•	 Pharmaceutical research and development realigned

•	� Full-year ebitda margin before special items expected to 

exceed 20 percent for the first time

Overview of Sales, Earnings and Financial Position

Second quarter of 2007
The Bayer Group had a very good second quarter in 2007, following on from the  
excellent figures for the first three months. Sales grew by 22.0 percent to €8,217 million 
(q2 2006: €6,736 million). This figure includes a €1,489 million contribution from the 
acquired business of Schering AG, Berlin, Germany (q2 2006: €144 million pro rata  
temporis). Adjusted for currency and portfolio effects, sales moved ahead by 5.4 percent, 
with business expanding by 9.3 percent at Bayer HealthCare, 1.9 percent at Bayer Crop-
Science and 6.3 percent at Bayer MaterialScience.

ebitda before special items climbed by 38.6 percent to €1,806 million (q2 2006:  
€1,303 million). The figures for HealthCare jumped by 106.2 percent to €969 million  
(q2 2006: €470 million), mainly as a result of the Schering acquisition and the pleas-

Gratifying performance in the second quarter of 2007: 

Bayer continues  
on a path of growth

EBITDA Before Special Items

€ million

Q1

2006 1,564

2007 1,990

Q2

2006 1,303

2007 1,806

Q3

2006 1,459

2007

Q4

2006 1,258

2007

Domestic Foreign

Net Sales by Market

€ million Total

Q1

2006 6,791

2007 8,335

Q2

2006 6,736

2007 8,217

Q3

2006 7,459

2007

Q4

2006 7,970

2007

1,115

1,301

1,060

1,183

1,167

5,676

7,034

5,676

6,276

6,803

1,199 7,018

2006 figures restated

2006 figures restated



�ing performance of all the HealthCare divisions. CropScience increased its earnings 
contribution to €396 million (q2 2006: €368 million), thanks largely to higher volumes 
and to savings from the cost-containment programs. ebitda before special items at 
MaterialScience came in level with the preceding quarter, as expected, at €409 million 
(q2 2006: €450 million), in light of increased raw material costs. 

ebit before special items improved by 30.1 percent in the second quarter of 2007, to 
€1,185 million (q2 2006: €911 million). Special charges amounted to €268 million  
(q2 2006: €34 million), including €209 million for the acquisition and integration of 
Schering, Berlin, Germany. ebit after special items rose by 4.6 percent to €917 million 
(q2 2006: €877 million).

After a non-operating result of minus €257 million (q2 2006: minus €228 million),  
income before income taxes was €660 million (q2 2006: €649 million). The non-oper-
ating result contained net interest expense of €205 million (q2 2006: €129 million), 
reflecting particularly the financing costs for the Schering acquisition. After tax expense 
of €247 million (q2 2006: €198 million), income from continuing operations after taxes 
came to €413 million (q2 2006: €451 million).

Income from discontinued operations after taxes was €244 million. This figure includes 
divestment proceeds of €231 million from the sale of Wolff Walsrode to Dow Chemical 
Company, which was completed in June 2007.

After minority stockholders’ interest, net income of the Bayer Group improved to  
€660 million (q2 2006: €452 million). Earnings per share came to €0.83 (q2 2006: €0.60).

Gross cash flow increased by 27.9 percent year on year to €1,187 million (q2 2006:  
€928 million), due to the strong growth in business and the inclusion of Schering, Ber-
lin, Germany. Net cash flow fell by €66 million to €816 million (q2 2006: €882 million), 
mainly because of higher tax payments, bonus payments and disbursements for restruc-
turing. Provisions for these payments had been recorded and recognized in income in 
previous quarters. The total net cash flow including discontinued operations was  
€780 million (q2 2006: €1,002 million), with the decline attributable primarily to the 
discontinued operations.
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Gross Cash Flow

€ million

Q1

2006 1,089

2007 1,411

Q2

2006 928

2007 1,187

Q3

2006 1,135

2007

Q4

2006 761

2007

Net Cash Flow

€ million

Q1

2006 38

2007 375

Q2

2006 882

2007 816

Q3

2006 1,515

2007

Q4

2006 1,493

2007

2006 figures restated 2006 figures restated
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Net debt amounted to €13.6 billion at June 30, 2007, exceeding the March 31 amount by 
€0.8 billion. This increase was mainly due to the €0.8 billion dividend payment. It should 
also be borne in mind that second-quarter interest and tax payments were at the expected 
high level.

Provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits declined by €0.6 billion com-
pared with March 31, 2007, to €5.6 billion, mainly because of higher capital market inter-
est rates.

First half of 2007
In the first half of 2007, too, the Bayer Group posted a further significant improvement 
in operating performance. Sales from continuing operations increased by 22.4 percent to 
€16,552 million (h1 2006: €13,527 million). On a currency- and portfolio-adjusted basis, 
sales rose by 6.4 percent.

ebitda before special items advanced by 32.4 percent to €3,796 million (h1 2006:  
€2,867 million). ebit before special items rose by 22.6 percent in the first half of 2007, to 
€2,560 million (h1 2006: €2,088 million). Net special charges came to €468 million  
(h1 2006: €162 million). The acquisition and integration of Schering, Berlin, Germany, led 
to special charges of €348 million, while net special charges of €87 million resulted from 
restructuring at CropScience and MaterialScience. After special items, ebit of the Bayer 
Group moved ahead by 8.6 percent to €2,092 million (h1 2006: €1,926 million).

After a non-operating result of minus €475 million (h1 2006: minus €438 million), income 
before income taxes came in at €1,617 million (h1 2006: €1,488 million). The non-operat-
ing result contained net interest expense of €361 million (h1 2006: €272 million). After 
tax expense of €548 million (h1 2006: €475 million), income from continuing operations 
after taxes was €1,069 million (h1 2006: €1,013 million).

Income from discontinued operations after taxes was €2.4 billion, including divestment 
gains of €2.1 billion for the Diagnostics business and €0.1 billion for H.C. Starck in the 
first quarter and €0.2 billion for Wolff Walsrode in the second quarter.

After minority stockholders’ interest, the Bayer Group posted first-half net income of 
€3,469 million (h1 2006: €1,052 million). Earnings per share came to €4.27 (h1 2006: 
€1.41).

Gross cash flow in the first half of 2007 improved by 28.8 percent compared to the  
prior-year period, to €2,598 million (h1 2006: €2,017 million), due to the positive sales 
performance and the inclusion of Schering, Berlin, Germany. Net cash flow rose by  
€271 million to €1,191 million (h1 2006: €920 million) due to substantial cash receipts in 
the first quarter. The total net cash flow including discontinued operations was  
€1,193 million (h1 2006: €1,130 million).



�Future Perspectives

Economic outlook
In the second half of 2007 we expect the global economic upswing to continue. Robust 
growth in Europe and in the emerging economies of Asia and Latin America is expected 
to compensate for the slight downturn in the United States. China and India, in particular, 
with their rapidly expanding economies, are contributing increasingly to global economic 
growth. While taking a confident overall view of the world economy, we are aware that  
the trend in oil prices and geopolitical uncertainties pose certain risks.

We anticipate that the pharmaceuticals market will maintain its current pace of steady 
growth. We expect a further improvement in the crop protection market environment 
compared to the prior-year period. Markets for the products of MaterialScience will  
probably show only a slight overall improvement, with regional growth rates diverging 
considerably.

Bayer Group sales and earnings forecast
We continue to target an increase of more than 10 percent in Group sales for the  
full year 2007. Adjusted for portfolio and currency effects, business should expand by 
about 5 percent.

In June we raised our full-year earnings guidance for the Bayer Group and Bayer Health-
Care. We plan to increase the Group ebitda margin before special items to more than 
20 percent (previous forecast: slightly increase on the prior-year figure of 19.3 percent). 
We expect to expand the ebitda margin before special items to more than 22 percent by 
2009 (previous forecast: approximately 22 percent).

We are optimistic about the prospects for our HealthCare business. For the year as a 
whole, we continue to expect that all of its divisions will grow with or faster than the 
market. We have increased the target margin for HealthCare to 25 percent for the current 
year (previous forecast: improvement toward 24 percent). The integration of the acquired 
business of Schering, Berlin, Germany, is proceeding more quickly than planned. We are 
confident that we will be able to realize synergies of more than €800 million by 2009 (pre-
vious forecast: €700 million). Also by 2009, we aim to achieve an ebitda margin before 
special items of approximately 28 percent (previous forecast: 27 percent) in our Health-
Care business.

The market environment for our CropScience business was positive in the first half of  
the year, as anticipated. We expect year-on-year growth in sales in the second half (previ-
ous forecast: full-year sales to grow slightly faster than the market) and are now targeting 
an increase in the full-year ebitda margin before special items to more than 22 percent 
(previous forecast: improvement toward 22 percent).

MaterialScience sustained a good, value-creating earnings level in the first six months of 
2007. ebitda before special items in the third quarter is likely to remain on a par with the 
second quarter.

In connection with the passage of corporate tax reform legislation in Germany, we expect 
to receive one-time non-cash tax income of approximately €0.9 billion in the third quarter 
of 2007. This results particularly from the remeasurement of the deferred tax liabilities 
accrued in connection with the Schering acquisition based on the lower nominal rates of 
corporate income tax applicable in Germany beginning in 2008. Because the assessment 
base has been significantly widened in order to finance the reduction in nominal tax rates, 
only limited relief in terms of the total tax payable is expected in the coming years.
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Pharmaceuticals Research and Development Pipeline

We announced in our 2006 Annual Report that the Pharmaceuticals Division’s research 
and development pipeline was under evaluation. Our research and development activities 
have now undergone a strategic realignment, representing a further milestone in the  
integration of Schering, Berlin, Germany.

Bayer’s drug discovery research will focus on four growth areas in the future: Oncology, 
Cardiology, Women's Healthcare and Diagnostic Imaging. The clinical development of 
new products and further development of products already on the market will be main-
tained across all units.

The pharmaceuticals research and development pipeline comprises 20 projects in  
Phase iii, 16 projects in Phase ii and 14 projects in Phase I. A further 9 projects have 
already been submitted to the various regulatory authorities for marketing authorization. 
As part of the realignment, a total of 20 projects from the combined Bayer/Schering pipe-
line have been discontinued either for strategic reasons or due to low success prospects.

Recently presented Phase iii study data on the prevention of venous thromboembo-
lism (vte) in patients undergoing knee replacement surgery show the anticoagulant 
rivaroxaban (bay 59-7939) to be more effective than the current therapeutic standard 
enoxaparin. In this trial, patients treated with rivaroxaban were 49 percent less likely to 
suffer deep-vein thrombosis (dvt), pulmonary embolism or death than those treated with 
enoxaparin. An even greater (62 percent) reduction of risk of developing major vte was 
observed in the patients treated with rivaroxaban, which also demonstrated a similarly 
low rate of major bleeding compared to enoxaparin (0.6 percent and 0.5 percent, respec-
tively). More than 2,500 patients were included in this Phase iii trial on the prevention of 
venous thromboembolism after major knee replacement surgery. The trial forms part of 
rivaroxaban’s extensive development program. We intend to apply for marketing approval 
in this first indication by the end of this year in Europe and in 2008 in the United States. It 
is planned to market the product under the trade name Xarelto® following its approval by 
the regulatory authorities.

At the beginning of June 2007 we presented the results of a Phase iii study involving 
our oncology product Nexavar® (sorafenib) in the treatment of liver cancer. The results 
show that Nexavar® increases overall survival by 44 percent over placebo in patients with 
advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. Liver cancer is among the most common types of 
cancer worldwide. As there is currently no approved treatment that can demonstrably 
increase overall survival in patients suffering from this disease, Nexavar® could have the 
potential to become the therapeutic standard. The dossiers for regulatory approval were 
submitted in the United States and the European Union in June 2007. Further clinical 
trials with Nexavar® are ongoing in other indications as well.

In the field of hematology, our pipeline has been strengthened by the successful inlicens-
ing of a late-stage hemostasis project. Bayer HealthCare has acquired the commercializa-
tion rights outside the United States for recombinant human thrombin (rThrombin) from 
u.s.-based ZymoGenetics. The two companies plan to jointly market the product in the 
United States for the control of surgical bleeding. 

Phase ii clinical trials with a new formulation of our recombinant blood coagulation Fac-
tor viii product Kogenate® are due to begin at the end of 2007. This formulation, based 
on liposome technology, could potentially prolong the product’s activity, thereby reducing 
the number of infusions needed and contributing significantly to the success of preven-
tive therapy in hemophilia patients. Our developmental product would thus be the only 
long-acting Factor viii product in clinical trials. Market introduction is planned for 2011 
in Europe and 2012 in the United States.



�Milestones have also been achieved for our cardiology pipeline, with three compounds 
demonstrating efficacy in various human heart diseases: bay 58-2667 has been inves-
tigated in acute decompensated heart failure, bay 63-2521 in patients with pulmonary 
hypertension, and bay 68-4986 as a therapy for stable angina pectoris.

On top of these latest successes, we have defined clear objectives and expect 10 projects 
in our pipeline to reach Phase iii clinical testing by the end of 2009. Alemtuzumab  
for the treatment of multiple sclerosis is scheduled to enter Phase iii trials this year.  
The Phase iii development program for vegf Trap-Eye to treat serious eye diseases has 
now begun. In our early-stage pipeline, we aim to advance three drug candidates from 
preclinical development into Phase i clinical testing by the end of 2007. In our ongoing 
clinical trials, we also intend to demonstrate the efficacy of four more active substances  
in patients before the end of this year. 

The following table shows the current status of the Phase iii and ii projects in our  
pharmaceuticals research and development pipeline:
 

Research and development projects (Phases III and II)

Indication Status

Rivaroxaban Prevention of venous thromboembolism Phase iii

Rivaroxaban Stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation Phase iii

Rivaroxaban Treatment of deep-vein thrombosis Phase iii

Nexavar® Melanoma Phase iii

Nexavar® Non-small-cell lung cancer Phase iii

Zevalin® Non-Hodgkin lymphoma Phase iii

Campath® Chronic lymphatic leukemia Phase iii

Bonefos® Prevention of bone metastasis in breast cancer Phase iii

Combined oral contraceptive for dysmenorrhea 
(Japan)

Dysmenorrhea Phase iii

YAZ® Extended Regimen Fertility control Phase iii

E2/DNG OC Fertility control/excessive bleeding Phase iii

Mirena® Menorrhagia (USA) Menorrhagia Phase iii

Angeliq® low-low Menopause management Phase iii

Visanne® Endometriosis Phase iii

Combined oral contraceptive containing folate Fertility control Phase iii

LCS Fertility control Phase iii

Betaferon® high dose (BEYOND) Multiple sclerosis Phase iii

VEGF Trap-Eye Wet age-related macular degeneration (AMD) Phase iii

Ultravist® 370 Computed tomography Phase iii

Avelox® New indications Phase iii

Adenosine A1 agonist Atrial fibrillation/stable angina pectoris Phase ii

sGC activator Acute heart failure Phase ii

sGC stimulator Pulmonary hypertension Phase ii

Rivaroxaban Acute coronary syndrome Phase ii

L19 interleukin 2 Renal cell carcinoma Phase ii

ZK-PRA Breast cancer Phase ii

Sagopilone (ZK-EPO) Lung/ovarian/breast/prostate cancer Phase ii

Spheramine® Parkinson’s disease Phase ii

Kogenate® Formulation based on liposome technology Phase ii

Nexavar® Breast cancer Phase ii

Nexavar® Other solid tumors Phase ii

FC Patch Fertility control Phase ii

Valette® Low Fertility control Phase ii

Alemtuzumab Multiple sclerosis Phase ii

Gadovist® Magnetic resonance imaging Phase ii

Levitra® New indications Phase ii
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Performance by Subgroup and Segment

Changes in corporate structure
Our business activities are grouped into the HealthCare, CropScience and MaterialScience 
subgroups.

As of June 30, 2007, our interest in the voting capital of Bayer Schering Pharma AG, 
Berlin, Germany, amounted to 96.3 percent. The acquired business of Schering, Berlin, 
Germany, is included in the Pharmaceuticals segment of the HealthCare subgroup as of 
June 23, 2006.

The names “Bayer Schering Pharma” or “Schering” as used in this report always refer 
to Bayer Schering Pharma AG, Berlin, Germany, or its predecessor, Schering AG, Berlin, 
Germany, respectively. The reference to Bayer Schering Pharma AG or Schering AG also 
includes business conducted by affiliated entities in countries outside Germany. Bayer 
Schering Pharma AG and Schering-Plough Corporation, New Jersey, United States, are 
unaffiliated companies that have been totally independent of each other for many years.

The commentaries in this report relate exclusively to continuing operations, except 
where specific reference is made to discontinued operations or to a total value (total). 
The divested activities of the Diagnostics Division, H.C. Starck and Wolff Walsrode are 
reported as discontinued operations. The prior-year data have been restated accordingly.

Sales by Segment in Percent, 1st Half 2007 (1st Half 2006 in parentheses)

Pharmaceuticals  31 (17)

Consumer Health  13 (16)

Materials 9 (10)

Systems 23 (27)

Reconciliation  4 (5)

Environmental Science,  
BioScience  4 (5)

Crop Protection  16 (20)

HealthCare  44 (33)CropScience  20 (25)

MaterialScience 32 (37)



11

H
al

f-
Ye

ar
 F

in
an

ci
al

 R
ep

or
t 

20
07

Sales
EBIT  

before special items*
EBITDA  

before special items*
EBITDA margin  

before special items*

€ million

2nd 
Quarter

2006

2nd 
Quarter

2007

2nd 
Quarter

2006

2nd 
Quarter

2007

2nd 
Quarter

2006

2nd 
Quarter

2007

2nd 
Quarter

2006

2nd 
Quarter

2007

HealthCare 2,257 3,717 371 640 470 969 20.8% 26.1%

Pharmaceuticals 1,188 2,583 173 416 237 711 19.9% 27.5%

Consumer Health 1,069 1,134 198 224 233 258 21.8% 22.8%

CropScience 1,578 1,562 230 262 368 396 23.3% 25.4%

Crop Protection 1,269 1,262 159 196 277 310 21.8% 24.6%

EnvironmentalScience, BioScience 309 300 71 66 91 86 29.4% 28.7%

MaterialScience 2,547 2,623 336 290 450 409 17.7% 15.6%

Materials 723 757 101 29 139 71 19.2% 9.4%

Systems 1,824 1,866 235 261 311 338 17.1% 18.1%

Reconciliation 354 315 (26) (7) 15 32 4.2% 10.2%

Continuing operations 6,736 8,217 911 1,185 1,303 1,806 19.3% 22.0%

2006 figures restated
* for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2, also page 31

Key Data by Subgroup and Segment 

Sales
EBIT  

before special items*
EBITDA  

before special items*
EBITDA margin  

before special items*

€ million
1st Half

2006
1st Half

2007
1st Half

2006
1st Half

2007
1st Half

2006
1st Half

2007
1st Half

2006
1st Half

2007

HealthCare 4,460 7,327 756 1,264 935 1,917 21.0% 26.2%

Pharmaceuticals 2,336 5,078 380 836 483 1,422 20.7% 28.0%

Consumer Health 2,124 2,249 376 428 452 495 21.3% 22.0%

CropScience 3,349 3,348 638 709 919 980 27.4% 29.3%

Crop Protection 2,682 2,696 444 539 683 771 25.5% 28.6%

EnvironmentalScience, BioScience 667 652 194 170 236 209 35.4% 32.1%

MaterialScience 5,033 5,231 759 581 989 818 19.7% 15.6%

Materials 1,433 1,496 233 67 309 151 21.6% 10.1%

Systems 3,600 3,735 526 514 680 667 18.9% 17.9%

Reconciliation 685 646 (65) 6 24 81 3.5% 12.5%

Continuing operations 13,527 16,552 2,088 2,560 2,867 3,796 21.2% 22.9%

2006 figures restated
* for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2, also page 31
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Bayer HealthCare

Sales of the HealthCare subgroup rose in the second quarter of 2007 by 64.7 percent 
to €3,717 million (q2 2006: €2,257 million), with the acquired business of Schering, Ber-
lin, Germany, accounting for €1,489 million (q2 2006: €144 million pro rata temporis). 
Adjusted for currency and portfolio effects, sales increased by 9.3 percent thanks to the 
positive business trend in both segments.

Bayer HealthCare improved ebitda before special items by 106.2 percent in the second 
quarter of 2007, to €969 million (q2 2006: €470 million). The increase was mainly due 
to the earnings contributions from the acquired Schering business and the synergies of 
around €100 million already realized. ebit before special items also came in considerably 
above the prior-year period, at €640 million (q2 2006: €371 million). After special charges 
of €209 million related to the integration of Schering, ebit amounted to €431 million, which 
was 21.4 percent more than for the same period of last year.

Pharmaceuticals

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 Change
1st Half

2006
1st Half

2007 Change

€ million € million % € million € million %

Sales 1,188 2,583 + 117.4 2,336 5,078 + 117.4

Primary Care1 753 766 + 1.7 1,540 1,539 – 0.1

Women’s Healthcare2 58 652 • 58 1,279 •

Diagnostic Imaging (including Medrad)2 37 330 • 37 637 •

Specialized Therapeutics2 30 310 • 30 613 •

Hematology/Cardiology 252 271 + 7.5 579 539 – 6.9

Oncology3 52 188 • 86 347 •

Dermatology (Intendis)2 6 66 • 6 124 •

EBITDA4 223 530 + 137.7 464 1,076 + 131.9

Special items (14) (181) (19) (346)

EBITDA before special items5 237 711 • 483 1,422 + 194.4

EBITDA margin before special items 19.9% 27.5% 20.7% 28.0%

EBIT4 159 207 + 30.2 361 488 + 35.2

Special items (14) (209) (19) (348)

EBIT before special items5 173 416 + 140.5 380 836 + 120.0

Gross cash flow4 157 381 + 142.7 319 771 + 141.7

Net cash flow4 284 202 – 28.9 273 481 + 76.2

2006 figures restated
1 Schering andrology business included in 2006 pro rata temporis
2 Schering sales included in 2006 pro rata temporis
3 Schering oncology business included in 2006 pro rata temporis
4 for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2
5 for definition see also page 31

Bayer HealthCare

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 Change
1st Half

2006
1st Half

2007 Change

€ million € million % € million € million %

Net sales 2,257 3,717 + 64.7 4,460 7,327 + 64.3

EBITDA1 454 788 + 73.6 913 1,571 + 72.1

Special items (16) (181) (22) (346)

EBITDA before special items2 470 969 + 106.2 935 1,917 + 105.0

EBITDA margin before special items 20.8% 26.1% 21.0% 26.2%

EBIT1 355 431 + 21.4 734 916 + 24.8

Special items (16) (209) (22) (348)

EBIT before special items2 371 640 + 72.5 756 1,264 + 67.2

Gross cash flow1 336 545 + 62.2 628 1,102 + 75.5

Net cash flow1 367 284 – 22.6 410 667 + 62.7
1 for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2
2 for definition see also page 31



13Pharmaceuticals
Sales of our Pharmaceuticals segment rose by €1,395 million in the second quarter of 
2007, to €2,583 million (q2 2006: €1,188 million), with the acquired business of Schering, 
Berlin, Germany, accounting for €1,489 million (q2 2006: €144 million pro rata temporis). 
Adjusted for currency and portfolio changes, we experienced growth of 9.0 percent, due 
primarily to sharply higher sales of Nexavar® and Kogenate®.

The figures for the second quarter of 2006 include the business of Schering, Berlin, 
Germany for the period June 23 through June 30, 2006.  The commentaries given below 
on business developments related to the acquired products include comparisons with data 
for the second quarter of 2006 that were prepared by Schering AG, Berlin, Germany, and 
do not form part of the consolidated interim financial statements of the Bayer Group.  
We refer to those figures as “pro forma.”
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Best-Selling Pharmaceutical Products

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 Change

Currency- 
adjusted 
change

1st Half 
2006

1st Half 
2007 Change

Currency- 
adjusted 
change

€ million € million % % € million € million % %

Betaferon®/Betaseron® *  
(Specialized Therapeutics) 25 256 • • 25 500 • •

Yasmin®/YAZ®/Yasminelle® *  
(Women’s Healthcare) 17 250 • • 17 490 • •

Kogenate®  (Hematology/Cardiology) 179 210 + 17.3 + 20.1 383 411 + 7.3 + 11.1

Adalat® (Primary Care) 171 162 – 5.3 + 0.5 328 307 – 6.4 – 0.1

Avalox®/Avelox® (Primary Care) 88 90 + 2.3 + 4.0 218 218 0.0 + 3.9

Cipro®/Ciprobay® (Primary Care) 127 93 – 26.8 – 24.3 259 201 – 22.4 – 19.6

Mirena® * (Women’s Healthcare) 8 88 • • 8 169 • •

Levitra® (Primary Care) 73 81 + 11.0 + 15.0 151 165 + 9.3 + 14.8

Magnevist® * (Diagnostic Imaging) 9 74 • • 9 154 • •

Glucobay® (Primary Care) 76 79 + 3.9 + 7.8 153 151 – 1.3 + 3.2

Ultravist® * (Diagnostic Imaging) 7 64 • • 7 119 • •

CardioAspirin® (Primary Care) 53 57 + 7.5 + 12.4 101 111 + 9.9 + 14.1

Nexavar® (Oncology) 23 60 + 160.9 + 167.6 43 107 + 148.8 + 157.5

Iopamiron® * (Diagnostic Imaging) 6 57 • • 6 104 • •

Diane® * (Women’s Healthcare) 5 43 • • 5 88 • •

Total 867 1,664 • • 1,713 3,295 • •

Proportion of Pharmaceuticals sales  73% 64% 73% 65%

Products ranked by first-half 2007 sales
* acquired Schering product, sales included in 2006 pro rata temporis

Best-Selling Schering Products  
(pro forma)

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 Change

Currency- 
adjusted 
change

1st Half 
2006

1st Half 
2007 Change

Currency- 
adjusted 
change

€ million € million % % € million € million % %

Betaferon®/Betaseron®  
(Specialized Therapeutics) 249 256 + 2.8 + 5.6 481 500 + 4.0 + 7.7

Yasmin®/YAZ®/Yasminelle®  
(Women’s Healthcare) 181 250 + 38.1 + 43.1 361 490 + 35.7 + 42.1

Mirena® (Women’s Healthcare) 75 88 + 17.3 + 21.3 143 169 + 18.2 + 23.1

Magnevist® (Diagnostic Imaging) 85 74 – 12.9 – 9.4 161 154 – 4.3 + 0.6

Ultravist® (Diagnostic Imaging) 71 64 – 9.9 – 9.9 143 119 – 16.8 – 15.4

Iopamiron® (Diagnostic Imaging) 62 57 – 8.1 0.0 110 104 – 5.5 + 3.6

Diane® (Women’s Healthcare) 45 43 – 4.4 – 2.2 92 88 – 4.3 – 2.2
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Sales of the Primary Care business unit in the second quarter of 2007 came to €766 mil-
lion (q2 2006: €753 million). Adjusted for currency and portfolio effects, the increase was 
3.5 percent. The main growth driver was Levitra®, with currency-adjusted sales up 15.0 
percent, while increasing competition from generic products led to a marked decline 
for Cipro®/Ciprobay®, sales of which fell 24.3 percent on a currency-adjusted basis. This 
effect was partially offset by sales in Japan of the novel cholesterol-lowering drug zetia®. 
We have comarketing rights for this Schering-Plough product in Japan, where it received 
marketing approval in April 2007. (Please note that Schering-Plough Corporation, New 
Jersey, and the company acquired by Bayer in June 2006, i.e. Bayer Schering Pharma AG 
(formerly named Schering AG), Berlin, Germany, are unaffiliated companies that have 
been totally independent of each other for many years.)

In our Women’s Healthcare business unit, we achieved sales of €652 million in the 
second quarter of 2007 (q2 2006: €58 million pro rata temporis). Principal growth drivers 
here were the oral contraceptives of the Yasmin®/yaz®/Yasminelle® product line, sales of 
which rose by 43.1 percent (pro forma) in the second quarter when adjusted for currency 
changes. This positive performance was due particularly to the launches of Yasminelle® 
in Europe and yaz® in the United States and Latin America. Business with our intra-uter-
ine system Mirena® also made encouraging progress in the second quarter, advancing 
by 21.3 percent (pro forma) on a currency-adjusted basis. Growth was due mainly to 
increased sales in the United States.

Sales of the Diagnostic Imaging business unit in the second quarter of 2007 came to 
€330 million (q2 2006: €37 million pro rata temporis). While the Medrad business 
expanded by 11.6 percent (pro forma) when adjusted for currency changes, Magnevist® 
and Ultravist® showed currency-adjusted, pro forma declines of 9.4 and 9.9 percent, 
respectively. Having voluntarily withdrawn the 370 mgI/ml formulation of Ultravist® in 
the summer of 2006, we have resumed sales of this product in most countries since the 
first quarter of 2007. Its relaunch in the u.s. market is scheduled for August 2007. 

Sales of the Specialized Therapeutics business unit in the second quarter of 2007 
amounted to €310 million (q2 2006: €30 million pro rata temporis). Currency-adjusted 
sales of our top product Betaferon®/Betaseron® to treat multiple sclerosis (MS) advanced 
by 5.6 percent (pro forma). 

Sales of the Hematology/Cardiology business unit rose by €19 million in the second 
quarter of 2007, to €271 million (q2 2006: €252 million). This represents an increase 
of 17.6 percent after adjusting for currency and portfolio effects. Second-quarter cur-
rency-adjusted sales of Kogenate® advanced by 20.1 percent because part of the sales 
volume expected for the first quarter was delayed until the second quarter. However, 
currency-adjusted sales of Trasylol®, our product for use during open-heart surgery, 
declined by 18.4 percent. Two separate observational studies reported on a possible cor-
relation between the administration of Trasylol® (aprotinin) and severe renal dysfunction 
and vasoconstriction (myocardial infarction and stroke). A follow-up study to one of them 
reported on a possible correlation between administration of this product and increased 
long-term mortality. Based on our study data and many years of experience with  
Trasylol®, Bayer believes that this product is a safe and effective medicine when used 
correctly. We are currently cooperating closely with the relevant regulatory authorities to 
resolve the questions that have arisen. In this connection a joint meeting of the  
Cardiovascular and Renal Drugs Advisory Committee and the Drug Safety and Risk  
Management Advisory Committee of the u.s. Food and Drug Administration (fda) is 
scheduled for September 12, 2007.



15Our Oncology business unit lifted sales substantially in the second quarter, to €188 mil-
lion (q2 2006: €52 million). Included in this figure is €113 million in sales of the acquired 
oncology business of Schering AG, Berlin, Germany, which mainly comprises the  
key products Fludara® and Campath®. Currency- and portfolio-adjusted sales rose by  
75.4 percent. This was mainly due to the very successful development of Nexavar®, sales 
of which rose to €60 million (q2 2006: €23 million).  

The Dermatology (Intendis) business unit achieved sales of €66 million in the second 
quarter of 2007. The main sales drivers were the principal products Skinoren® and 
Advantan®, sales of which rose by 13.4 percent and 9.6 percent (pro forma), respectively, 
after adjusting for currency changes.

ebitda before special items for the Pharmaceuticals segment moved ahead in the  
second quarter of 2007 to €711 million (q2 2006: €237 million). As in the preceding 
quarter, the substantial increase was largely due to the earnings contributions from  
the acquired Schering business and the synergies already achieved. ebit before special  
items came in €243 million, or 140.5 percent, above the prior-year quarter, at  
€416 million. After special charges of €209 million related to the acquisition and integra-
tion of Schering, Berlin, Germany, ebit advanced by €48 million, or 30.2 percent,  
to €207 million.

First-half sales of the Pharmaceuticals segment increased to €5,078 million (q2 2006: 
€2,336 million), including a €2,899 million contribution (q2 2006: €144 million pro 
rata temporis) from the acquired Schering business. This is equivalent to a 6.7 percent 
increase after adjusting for currency and portfolio changes. Contributing especially  
to this growth were the gratifying gains by our core products Nexavar®, Levitra® and 
Kogenate®, which compensated for the expected drop in sales of Cipro®/Ciprobay®. 
The Pharmaceuticals segment saw ebitda before special items for the first half of 2007 
advance to €1,422 million (h1 2006: €483 million). ebit before special items climbed by 
€456 million, or 120 percent, to €836 million. After special charges of €348 million, ebit 
rose by €127 million, or 35.2 percent, to €488 million.

To safeguard our Betaseron® business, we signed an agreement with Novartis in the first 
quarter of 2007 to acquire the biologics manufacturing facility in Emeryville, California. 
Bayer Schering Pharma will continue to pay Novartis royalties equivalent to those  
being paid currently on net sales of Betaseron® manufactured by Bayer at the Emeryville 
facilities until the original agreement with Novartis expires in October 2008. After  
this date, no more royalties will be due to Novartis on the sales of Betaseron®. Bayer 
Schering Pharma will also acquire the existing inventories. In return, Novartis will 
receive a license to establish its own brand based on interferon beta-1b starting in 2009. 
When it is approved by the regulatory authorities, Bayer Schering Pharma will manu-
facture the product for Novartis from 2009 forward and receive in return a royalty from 
Novartis.
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Consumer Health
Sales of our Consumer Health segment in the second quarter of 2007 were  
€1,134 million (q2 2006: €1,069 million). On a currency- and portfolio-adjusted basis this 
corresponds to a 9.6 percent increase, which was well ahead of market growth and to 
which all divisions contributed. 

The Consumer Care Division posted second-quarter sales of €624 million (q2 2006:  
€604 million). Adjusted for currency effects, sales rose by 6.3 percent. Among our top 
products, Bepanthen®/Bepanthol® (+17.6 percent, currency-adjusted) and Canesten® 
(+18.6 percent, currency-adjusted) performed very well.

Sales of the Diabetes Care Division showed a particularly strong gain, to €244 million  
(q2 2006: €213 million). On a currency-adjusted basis the increase came to 19.7 percent. 
This pleasing trend was mainly due to the successful marketing of our blood glucose 
monitoring systems Ascensia® Contour® and Ascensia® Breeze®, which replace the older 
Elite® systems in the Ascensia® product family.

Second-quarter sales of the Animal Health Division rose to €266 million (q2 2006:  
€252 million), with currency-adjusted sales growth amounting to 9.6 percent. Contribut-
ing particularly to the increase was the Advantage® product line, which saw business 
expand by 20.1 percent. 

ebitda before special items for the Consumer Health segment advanced in the second 
quarter of 2007 by 10.7 percent to €258 million (q2 2006: €233 million). Earnings on the 
additional business more than offset the higher marketing expenses necessary to  
support product introductions planned for 2007. ebit before special items moved ahead  
13.1 percent to €224 million (q2 2006: €198 million). ebit amounted to €224 million  
(q2 2006: €196 million).

Sales of the Consumer Health segment in the first half of 2007 increased by €125 million 
to €2,249 million. Adjusted for currency effects, the increase came to 10.6 percent. The 
Consumer Health segment posted a €43 million increase in first-half ebitda before spe-
cial items, to €495 million. ebit before special items rose by 13.8 percent to €428 million 
(h1 2006: €376 million). ebit amounted to €428 million (h1 2006: €373 million).
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Best-Selling Consumer Health Products

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 Change

Currency- 
adjusted 
change

1st Half 
2006

1st Half 
2007 Change

Currency- 
adjusted 
change

€ million € million % % € million € million % %

Ascensia® product line (Diabetes Care) 208 241 + 15.9 + 20.2 398 464 + 16.6 + 21.9

Aspirin®  * (Consumer Care) 115 107 – 7.0 – 3.8 231 220 – 4.8 – 0.7

Advantage®   product line (Animal Health) 91 105 + 15.4 + 20.1 150 180 + 20.0 + 26.1

Aleve®/naproxen (Consumer Care) 56 55 – 1.8 + 3.6 109 124 + 13.8 + 21.8

Canesten® (Consumer Care) 40 47 + 17.5 + 18.6 81 90 + 11.1 + 12.9

Bepanthen®/Bepanthol® (Consumer Care) 34 40 + 17.6 + 17.6 69 76 + 10.1 + 11.2

Baytril® (Animal Health) 35 33 – 5.7 – 1.0 75 73 – 2.7 + 1.1

Supradyn® (Consumer Care) 31 32 + 3.2 + 7.5 66 65 – 1.5 + 1.8

One-A-Day® (Consumer Care) 30 29 – 3.3 + 4.3 60 60 0.0 + 8.2

Rennie® (Consumer Care) 23 25 + 8.7 + 8.5 49 52 + 6.1 + 6.9

Total 663 714 + 7.7 + 11.6 1,288 1,404 + 9.0 + 13.8

Proportion of Consumer Health sales 62% 63% 61% 62%

* �Total Aspirin® second-quarter sales = €164 million (Q2 2006: €168 million), first-half sales = €331 million (H1 2006: €332 million) including Aspirin® Cardio,  
which is reflected in sales of the Pharmaceuticals segment 

Consumer Health

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 Change
1st Half

2006
1st Half

2007 Change

€ million € million % € million € million %

Net sales 1,069 1,134 + 6.1 2,124 2,249 + 5.9

Consumer Care 604 624 + 3.3 1,246 1,283 + 3.0

Diabetes Care 213 244 + 14.6 406 470 + 15.8

Animal Health 252 266 + 5.6 472 496 + 5.1

EBITDA1 231 258 + 11.7 449 495 + 10.2

Special items (2) 0 (3) 0

EBITDA before special items2 233 258 + 10.7 452 495 + 9.5

EBITDA margin before special items 21.8% 22.8% 21.3% 22.0%

EBIT1 196 224 + 14.3 373 428 + 14.7

Special items (2) 0 (3) 0

EBIT before special items2 198 224 + 13.1 376 428 + 13.8

Gross cash flow1 179 164 – 8.4 309 331 + 7.1

Net cash flow1 83 82 – 1.2 137 186 + 35.8
1 for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2
2 for definition see also page 31
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Bayer CropScience 

Our CropScience subgroup had sales of €1,562 million in the second quarter of 2007 
(q2 2006: €1,578 million). Currency- and portfolio-adjusted sales grew by 1.9 percent.

Second-quarter ebitda before special items advanced 7.6 percent to €396 million,  
thanks largely to volume increases and savings from the cost-containment programs. 
These effects more than offset the negative impact of shifts in exchange rates and lower 
prices for some products. ebit before special items came in at €262 million (q2 2006: 
€230 million). Special charges totaling €51 million (q2 2006: €0 million) were recognized 
for the restructuring project initiated in 2006 and for defense costs related to the legal 
proceedings pending in the United States concerning genetically modified rice. As a 
result of these charges, second-quarter ebit dropped by 8.3 percent to €211 million.

Bayer CropScience

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 Change
1st Half

2006
1st Half

2007 Change

€ million € million % € million € million %

Net sales 1,578 1,562 – 1.0 3,349 3,348 0.0

EBITDA1 368 348 – 5.4 919 896 – 2.5

Special items 0 (48) 0 (84)

EBITDA before special items2 368 396 + 7.6 919 980 + 6.6

EBITDA margin before special items 23.3% 25.4% 27.4% 29.3%

EBIT1 230 211 – 8.3 638 619 – 3.0

Special items 0 (51) 0 (90)

EBIT before special items2 230 262 + 13.9 638 709 + 11.1

Gross cash flow1 289 259 – 10.4 676 628 – 7.1

Net cash flow1 534 494 – 7.5 184 256 + 39.1
1 for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2
2 for definition see also page 31

Best-Selling  
Bayer CropScience Products*

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 Change

Currency- 
adjusted 
change

1st Half 
2006

1st Half 
2007 Change

Currency- 
adjusted 
change

€ million € million % % € million € million % %

Confidor®/Gaucho®/Admire®/Merit® 
(Insecticides/Seed Treatment/ 
Environmental Science) 147 132 – 10.2 – 10.3 312 295 – 5.4 – 1.9

Basta®/Liberty® (Herbicides) 80 89 + 11.3 + 10.5 152 161 + 5.9 + 12.3

Proline® (Fungicides) 55 75 + 36.4 + 34.2 113 147 + 30.1 + 30.1

Folicur®/Raxil® (Fungicides/Seed Treatment) 72 61 – 15.3 – 15.0 167 138 – 17.4 – 14.8

Puma® (Herbicides) 74 69 – 6.8 – 6.8 142 138 – 2.8 + 1.6

Flint®/Stratego®/Sphere® (Fungicides) 38 53 + 39.5 + 37.2 87 113 + 29.9 + 33.5

Betanal® (Herbicides) 57 61 + 7.0 + 7.9 102 106 + 3.9 + 6.2

Decis®/K-Othrine® (Insecticides) 56 52 – 7.1 – 7.4 100 97 – 3.0 + 0.4

Atlantis® (Herbicides) 21 15 – 28.6 – 31.4 70 91 + 30.0 + 29.8

Poncho® (Seed Treatment) 19 31 + 63.2 + 61.8 50 90 + 80.0 + 91.3

Total 619 638 + 3.1 + 2.6 1,295 1,376 + 6.3 + 9.8

Proportion of Bayer CropScience sales 39% 41% 39% 41%

* �Figures are based on active ingredient class. For the sake of clarity, only the principal brands and business units are listed.
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Crop Protection

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 Change
1st Half

2006
1st Half

2007 Change

€ million € million % € million € million %

Net sales 1,269 1,262 – 0.6 2,682 2,696 + 0.5

Herbicides 519 479 – 7.7 1,069 1,047 – 2.1

Fungicides 352 385 + 9.4 730 769 + 5.3

Insecticides 317 313 – 1.3 665 624 – 6.2

Seed Treatment 81 85 + 4.9 218 256 + 17.4

EBITDA1 277 297 + 7.2 683 722 + 5.7

Special items 0 (13) 0 (49)

EBITDA before special items2 277 310 + 11.9 683 771 + 12.9

EBITDA margin before special items 21.8% 24.6% 25.5% 28.6%

EBIT1 159 180 + 13.2 444 484 + 9.0

Special items 0 (16) 0 (55)

EBIT before special items2 159 196 + 23.3 444 539 + 21.4

Gross cash flow1 227 219 – 3.5 512 501 – 2.1

Net cash flow1 434 313 – 27.9 145 200 + 37.9
1 for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2
2 for definition see also page 31

Crop Protection
Sales of the Crop Protection segment in the second quarter of 2007 amounted to  
€1,262 million (q2 2006: €1,269 million). Adjusted for currency and portfolio changes, 
business expanded by 2.5 percent, the main contributions to this increase coming from 
our fungicides and seed treatment products.

Sales of the Herbicides business unit amounted to €479 million (q2 2006: €519 million) in 
the second quarter of 2007. Adjusted for currency and portfolio effects, sales were down 
by 5.1 percent, the early start to the season in Europe having caused some cereal herbi-
cide orders to be brought forward to the first quarter. In a difficult market environment 
in North America, pleasing sales of Basta® and Liberty® offset the negative impact of a 
reduction in cereal acreages in Canada.

Sales of our Fungicides business unit in the second quarter improved to €385 million 
(q2 2006: €352 million). Currency- and portfolio-adjusted sales expanded by 10.8 per-
cent, thanks mainly to our business in the United States, where we saw a gratifying sales 
increase in the second quarter following a weak start to the fungicide season. Very strong 
performers were our young cereal fungicide Proline® throughout the world and the potato 
fungicide Infinito® that was launched only last year in Europe. 

Second-quarter sales of the Insecticides business unit came to €313 million (q2 2006: 
€317 million). Adjusted for currency and portfolio effects, business expanded by 2.7 per-
cent. In Europe we recorded very encouraging sales of our young insecticide Biscaya®.

Following pleasing growth in the first three months of the year, sales of our Seed Treat-
ment business unit climbed to €85 million in the second quarter. Currency- and portfolio-
adjusted sales moved ahead by 10.8 percent. Our young insecticidal seed treatments, 
such as Poncho® and the new mix product CropStar®, were the main contributors to this 
increase.
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ebitda before special items in the Crop Protection segment expanded by 11.9 percent in 
the second quarter, to €310 million, due primarily to increased volumes and cost savings 
from the performance programs. ebit before special items climbed by 23.3 percent to 
€196 million. After special charges of €16 million incurred in connection with the restruc-
turing project initiated in 2006, ebit rose by 13.2 percent to €180 million (q2 2006:  
€159 million).

In the first half of 2007, sales of the Crop Protection segment reached €2,696 million 
(h1 2006: €2,682 million). After adjusting for currency and portfolio effects, business 
expanded by 4.6 percent. This was due to overall improvements in market conditions, 
such as the increased cultivation of plants for the production of biofuels and inter
nationally high prices for crop commodities. First-half ebitda before special items in 
the first six months increased by €88 million to €771 million. ebit before special items, 
at €539 million, came in 21.4  percent above the prior-year period. After €55 million in 
special charges for restructuring, ebit came in at €484 million (h1 2006: €444 million).
 

Environmental Science, BioScience
In the Environmental Science, BioScience segment, we achieved second-quarter sales 
of €300 million (q2 2006: €309 million). Adjusted for currency changes, business was 
roughly level with the prior-year period (minus 0.2 percent).

Sales of Environmental Science came to €200 million (q2 2006: €225 million). Here, 
currency-adjusted sales were down 8.1 percent. The positive trend in home and garden 
products for consumers did not compensate for a significant drop in sales of products for 
professional users that resulted primarily from increased generic competition in North 
America.

Sales of the BioScience unit improved to €100 million (q2 2006: €84 million). On a cur-
rency-adjusted basis this was equivalent to a 21.3 percent increase. This positive per-
formance was attributable above all to our canola seed marketed under the brand name 
InVigor®, as well as to our vegetable seed business, the cotton seed FiberMax® and our 
hybrid rice seed Arize®.

Second-quarter ebitda before special items for the Environmental Science, BioScience 
segment receded to €86 million (q2 2006: €91 million). The decline was due to lower 
sales of products for professional users in the Environmental Science unit and adverse 
shifts in currency parities. ebit before special items was €66 million (q2 2006: €71 mil-
lion). After special charges totaling €35 million for restructuring in Environmental Science 
and provisions for the aforementioned defense costs, ebit came in at €31 million  
(q2 2006: €71 million).



21In the first half of 2007 the Environmental Science, BioScience segment posted sales of 
€652 million (h1 2006: €667 million). Currency-adjusted sales moved ahead 1.9 percent. 
Segment ebitda before special items came to €209 million (h1 2006: €236 million), while 
ebit before special items amounted to €170 million (h1 2006: €194 million). After special 
charges of €35 million (h1 2006: €0 million), ebit for the first half of 2007 was €135 mil-
lion (h1 2006: €194 million).
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Environmental Science, BioScience

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 Change
1st Half

2006
1st Half

2007 Change

€ million € million % € million € million %

Net sales 309 300 – 2.9 667 652 – 2.2

Environmental Science 225 200 – 11.1 418 388 – 7.2

BioScience 84 100 + 19.0 249 264 + 6.0

EBITDA1 91 51 – 44.0 236 174 – 26.3

Special items 0 (35) 0 (35)

EBITDA before special items2 91 86 – 5.5 236 209 – 11.4

EBITDA margin before special items 29.4% 28.7% 35.4% 32.1%

EBIT1 71 31 – 56.3 194 135 – 30.4

Special items 0 (35) 0 (35)

EBIT before special items2 71 66 – 7.0 194 170 – 12.4

Gross cash flow1 62 40 – 35.5 164 127 – 22.6

Net cash flow1 100 181 + 81.0 39 56 + 43.6
1 for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2
2 for definition see also page 31
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Bayer MaterialScience

The MaterialScience subgroup saw further growth in business, with sales rising to  
€2,623 million in the second quarter of 2007 (q2 2006: €2,547 million). Adjusted for 
currency effects, sales advanced by 6.3 percent year on year. The increase was largely 
due to higher volumes in nearly all segments and regions. Despite heavy pressure on 
prices in a number of markets, we achieved slightly positive price effects overall.

ebitda before special items in the second quarter of 2007 came to €409 million, down 
9.1 percent from the high level of the prior-year period (q2 2006: €450 million).  
Higher volumes and the slightly positive price effects did not compensate for the roughly 
€110 million in additional costs for raw materials and energy. ebit before special items 
dropped 13.7 percent to €290 million, from €336 million in the second quarter of 2006. 
Earnings were impacted by special charges of €24 million (q2 2006: €18 million) for 
restructuring. ebit came to €266 million (q2 2006: €318 million).

Materials
Sales in the Materials segment climbed to €757 million in the second quarter of 2007. 
After adjusting for currency effects, business increased by 8.5 percent. Growth took place 
mainly in the Polycarbonates business unit, where sales rose in all regions thanks to higher 
volumes.

Second-quarter ebitda before special items dropped to €71 million (q2 2006: €139 mil-
lion), with ebit down from €101 million to €29 million. This significant drop in earnings 
resulted chiefly from a sharp rise in raw material costs. Prices for important feedstocks 
such as phenol reached record highs in the second quarter, while product selling prices 
registered a year-on-year decline. The earnings contributions from additional volumes only 
partially offset these effects.

First-half sales increased to €1,496 million (h1 2006: €1,433 million). On a currency-
adjusted basis, sales rose 8.7 percent. ebitda before special items came to €151 million  
(h1 2006: €309 million). First-half ebit amounted to €67 million (h1 2006: €233 million).

Systems
The Systems segment posted second-quarter sales of €1,866 million (q2 2006: €1,824 
million) due to slight increases in selling prices and volumes. Currency-adjusted sales 
improved by 5.4 percent. Our Coatings, Adhesives, Sealants business unit was the main 
contributor to the improvement, with currency-adjusted sales growth of 10.8 percent.  
We achieved slight increases in volumes and selling prices.

Second-quarter ebitda before special items in the Systems segment advanced to  
€338 million (q2 2006: €311 million). The higher selling prices and volumes offset 
increases in raw material costs and the charges attributable to continuing difficulties expe-
rienced by our supplier of crude mdi in Shanghai. ebit before special items was €261 mil-
lion (q2 2006: €235 million). We took special charges of €24 million in the second quarter 
for the closure of our mdi plant in New Martinsville, West Virginia. ebit after special items 
came to €237 million (q2 2006: €217 million).

The Systems segment saw sales rise to €3,735 million in the first half of 2007, with 
the currency-adjusted increase amounting to 7.5 percent. ebitda before special items 
remained nearly level with the prior-year period, at €667 million. ebit before special items 
was €514 million (h1 2006: €526 million). Thanks to much lower special items in the first 
half of 2007, ebit moved ahead by 22.2 percent to €484 million (h1 2006: €396 million).
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2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 Change
1st Half

2006
1st Half

2007 Change

€ million € million % € million € million %

Net sales 2,547 2,623 + 3.0 5,033 5,231 + 3.9

EBITDA1 432 389 – 10.0 859 798 – 7.1

Special items (18) (20) (130) (20)

EBITDA before special items2 450 409 – 9.1 989 818 – 17.3

EBITDA margin before special items 17.7% 15.6% 19.7% 15.6%

EBIT1 318 266 – 16.4 629 551 – 12.4

Special items (18) (24) (130) (30)

EBIT before special items2 336 290 – 13.7 759 581 – 23.5

Gross cash flow1 327 293 – 10.4 644 597 – 7.3

Net cash flow1 251 278 +10.8 524 315 – 39.9

2006 figures restated
1 for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2
2 for definition see also page 31

Materials

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 Change
1st Half

2006
1st Half

2007 Change

€ million € million % € million € million %

Net sales 723 757 + 4.7 1,433 1,496 + 4.4

Polycarbonates 670 703 + 4.9 1,326 1,386 + 4.5

Thermoplastic Polyurethanes 53 54 + 1.9 107 110 + 2.8

EBITDA1 139 71 – 48.9 309 151 – 51.1

Special items 0 0 0 0

EBITDA before special items2 139 71 – 48.9 309 151 – 51.1

EBITDA margin before special items 19.2% 9.4% 21.6% 10.1%

EBIT1 101 29 – 71.3 233 67 – 71.2

Special items 0 0 0 0

EBIT before special items2 101 29 – 71.3 233 67 – 71.2

Gross cash flow1 105 55 – 47.6 231 124 – 46.3

Net cash flow1 88 25 – 71.6 123 0 – 100.0

2006 figures restated
1 for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2
2 for definition see also page 31

Systems

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 Change
1st Half

2006
1st Half

2007 Change

€ million € million % € million € million %

Net sales 1,824 1,866 + 2.3 3,600 3,735 + 3.8

Polyurethanes 1,301 1,313 + 0.9 2,570 2,645 + 2.9

Coatings, Adhesives, Sealants 380 410 + 7.9 749 803 + 7.2

Inorganic Basic Chemicals 100 104 + 4.0 206 210 + 1.9

Others 43 39 – 9.3 75 77 + 2.7

EBITDA1 293 318 + 8.5 550 647 + 17.6

Special items (18) (20) (130) (20)

EBITDA before special items2 311 338 + 8.7 680 667 – 1.9

EBITDA margin before special items 17.1% 18.1% 18.9% 17.9%

EBIT1 217 237 + 9.2 396 484 + 22.2

Special items (18) (24) (130) (30)

EBIT before special items2 235 261 + 11.1 526 514 – 2.3

Gross cash flow1 222 238 + 7.2 413 473 + 14.5

Net cash flow1 163 253 + 55.2 401 315 – 21.4
1 for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2
2 for definition see also page 31
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Performance by Region

Bayer’s global sales expanded in the second quarter of 2007 by €1,481 million from the 
prior-year period, to €8,217 million. Adjusted for shifts in exchange rates, business  
rose by 24.9 percent. The increase was mainly due to the inclusion of Schering, Berlin, 
Germany. Adjusted for both currency and portfolio effects, sales gained 5.4 percent.

The largest increases in absolute terms were recorded in Europe, where second-quarter 
sales rose by €686 million to €3,697 million. On a currency-adjusted basis, business grew 
by 22.6 percent. Europe thus accounted for 45.0 percent of Group sales in the second 
quarter, with all subgroups posting year-on-year improvements. Adjusted for currency 
and portfolio changes, business in Europe grew by 4.1 percent, mainly as a result of 
substantial increases in the Consumer Health; Environmental Science, BioScience; and 
Systems segments. Sales in Germany climbed by 13.1 percent to €1,199 million, giving a 
2.7 percent increase after adjusting for portfolio changes.

Sales in North America advanced to €2,140 million, or by 25.5 percent when adjusted 
for currency changes. Currency- and portfolio-adjusted sales were level with the prior-
year quarter (+ 0.3%). The Consumer Health segment in North America developed  
particularly well. The CropScience and MaterialScience subgroups, however, experienced 
a decline in business.

Sales by Region and Segment 
(by Market) Europe North America Asia/Pacific Latin America/Africa /Middle East Continuing Operations

 

€ million

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 % adj. %

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 % adj. %

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 % adj. %

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 % adj. %

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 % adj. %

HealthCare 899 1,566 + 74.2 + 73.9 690 1,093 + 58.4 + 69.7 336 523 + 55.7 + 67.0 332 535 + 61.1 + 65.4 2,257 3,717 + 64.7 + 68.1

Pharmaceuticals 477 1,114 + 133.5 + 133.1 314 696 + 121.7 + 137.1 256 438 + 71.1 + 84.8 141 335 + 137.6 + 141.7 1,188 2,583 + 117.4 + 120.6

Consumer Health 422 452 + 7.1 + 6.8 376 397 + 5.6 + 13.4 80 85 + 6.3 + 10.2 191 200 + 4.7 + 8.9 1,069 1,134 + 6.1 + 9.7

CropScience 669 675 + 0.9 + 0.5 462 431 – 6.7 – 0.6 237 237 0.0 + 2.9 210 219 + 4.3 + 4.6 1,578 1,562 – 1.0 + 1.1

Crop Protection 565 566 + 0.2 – 0.4 337 319 – 5.3 + 1.2 185 184 – 0.5 + 2.8 182 193 + 6.0 + 5.9 1,269 1,262 – 0.6 + 1.4

Environmental Science, BioScience 104 109 + 4.8 + 5.8 125 112 – 10.4 – 5.5 52 53 + 1.9 + 3.1 28 26 – 7.1 – 4.3 309 300 – 2.9 – 0.2

MaterialScience 1,118 1,169 + 4.6 + 4.6 668 613 – 8.2 – 1.9 476 537 + 12.8 + 19.9 285 304 + 6.7 + 9.1 2,547 2,623 + 3.0 + 6.3

Materials 283 289 + 2.1 + 1.9 151 149 – 1.3 + 5.4 217 244 + 12.4 + 19.5 72 75 + 4.2 + 7.4 723 757 + 4.7 + 8.5

Systems 835 880 + 5.4 + 5.5 517 464 – 10.3 – 4.0 259 293 + 13.1 + 20.2 213 229 + 7.5 + 9.6 1,824 1,866 + 2.3 + 5.4

Continuing operations  
(incl. reconciliation) 3,011 3,697 + 22.8 + 22.6 1,823 2,140 +17.4 + 25.5 1,061 1,308 + 23.3 + 30.6 841 1,072 + 27.5 + 30.2 6,736 8,217 + 22.0 + 24.9

2006 figures restated
adj. = currency-adjusted

Sales by Region and Segment 
(by Market) Europe North America Asia/Pacific Latin America/Africa /Middle East Continuing Operations

 

€ million
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007 % adj. %
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007 % adj. %
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007 % adj. %
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007 % adj. %
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007 % adj. %

HealthCare 1,785 3,061 + 71.5 + 71.5 1,384 2,238 + 61.7 + 74.5 643 989 + 53.8 + 64.8 648 1,039 + 60.3 + 70.4 4,460 7,327 + 64.3 + 68.6

Pharmaceuticals 928 2,153 + 132.0 + 132.0 669 1,450 + 116.7 + 133.7 479 817 + 70.6 + 83.8 260 658 + 153.1 + 166.9 2,336 5,078 + 117.4 + 121.4

Consumer Health 857 908 + 6.0 + 6.0 715 788 + 10.2 + 19.1 164 172 + 4.9 + 9.3 388 381 – 1.8 + 5.7 2,124 2,249 + 5.9 + 10.6

CropScience 1,436 1,537 + 7.0 + 6.8 999 878 – 12.1 – 5.3 473 456 – 3.6 + 1.0 441 477 + 8.2 + 13.0 3,349 3,348 0.0 + 3.2

Crop Protection 1,188 1,289 + 8.5 + 8.2 717 611 – 14.8 – 8.0 392 373 – 4.8 + 0.1 385 423 + 9.9 + 14.2 2,682 2,696 + 0.5 + 3.5

Environmental Science, BioScience 248 248 0.0 + 0.5 282 267 – 5.3 + 1.7 81 83 + 2.5 + 5.7 56 54 – 3.6 + 4.0 667 652 – 2.2 + 1.9

MaterialScience 2,182 2,354 + 7.9 + 7.9 1,368 1,244 – 9.1 – 1.7 926 1,043 + 12.6 + 20.1 557 590 + 5.9 + 10.6 5,033 5,231 + 3.9 + 7.8

Materials 557 572 + 2.7 + 2.7 302 298 – 1.3 + 6.6 436 484 + 11.0 + 18.5 138 142 + 2.9 + 6.7 1,433 1,496 + 4.4 + 8.7

Systems 1,625 1,782 + 9.7 + 9.7 1,066 946 – 11.3 – 4.1 490 559 + 14.1 + 21.6 419 448 + 6.9 + 11.9 3,600 3,735 + 3.8 + 7.5

Continuing operations  
(incl. reconciliation) 6,029 7,545 + 25.1 + 25.0 3,759 4,366 + 16.1 + 25.4 2,067 2,508 + 21.3 + 29.3 1,672 2,133 + 27.6 + 34.4 13,527 16,552 + 22.4 + 26.1

2006 figures restated
adj. = currency-adjusted



25In Asia/Pacific we expanded business by a substantial, currency-adjusted 30.6 percent. 
Adjusted for currency and portfolio changes, sales rose by 15.6 percent. In the Health-
Care subgroup, we improved sales of both our Pharmaceuticals and Consumer Health 
businesses. Sales of CropScience in this region posted a small increase of 2.9 percent on 
a currency-adjusted basis. MaterialScience again registered substantial growth in Asia/
Pacific in the second quarter, with currency-adjusted sales up 19.9 percent.

Sales in the Latin America/Africa/Middle East region climbed by 30.2 percent when 
adjusted for currency effects. Currency- and portfolio-adjusted sales advanced by  
7.7 percent. CropScience sales in the region rose by 4.6 percent (currency-adjusted), due 
primarily to good business with crop protection products. We also generated higher sales 
in HealthCare (+ 7.8 percent currency- and portfolio-adjusted) and in the MaterialScience 
subgroup (+ 9.1 percent currency-adjusted).

Sales by Region and Segment 
(by Market) Europe North America Asia/Pacific Latin America/Africa /Middle East Continuing Operations

 

€ million

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 % adj. %

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 % adj. %

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 % adj. %

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 % adj. %

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007 % adj. %

HealthCare 899 1,566 + 74.2 + 73.9 690 1,093 + 58.4 + 69.7 336 523 + 55.7 + 67.0 332 535 + 61.1 + 65.4 2,257 3,717 + 64.7 + 68.1

Pharmaceuticals 477 1,114 + 133.5 + 133.1 314 696 + 121.7 + 137.1 256 438 + 71.1 + 84.8 141 335 + 137.6 + 141.7 1,188 2,583 + 117.4 + 120.6

Consumer Health 422 452 + 7.1 + 6.8 376 397 + 5.6 + 13.4 80 85 + 6.3 + 10.2 191 200 + 4.7 + 8.9 1,069 1,134 + 6.1 + 9.7

CropScience 669 675 + 0.9 + 0.5 462 431 – 6.7 – 0.6 237 237 0.0 + 2.9 210 219 + 4.3 + 4.6 1,578 1,562 – 1.0 + 1.1

Crop Protection 565 566 + 0.2 – 0.4 337 319 – 5.3 + 1.2 185 184 – 0.5 + 2.8 182 193 + 6.0 + 5.9 1,269 1,262 – 0.6 + 1.4

Environmental Science, BioScience 104 109 + 4.8 + 5.8 125 112 – 10.4 – 5.5 52 53 + 1.9 + 3.1 28 26 – 7.1 – 4.3 309 300 – 2.9 – 0.2

MaterialScience 1,118 1,169 + 4.6 + 4.6 668 613 – 8.2 – 1.9 476 537 + 12.8 + 19.9 285 304 + 6.7 + 9.1 2,547 2,623 + 3.0 + 6.3

Materials 283 289 + 2.1 + 1.9 151 149 – 1.3 + 5.4 217 244 + 12.4 + 19.5 72 75 + 4.2 + 7.4 723 757 + 4.7 + 8.5

Systems 835 880 + 5.4 + 5.5 517 464 – 10.3 – 4.0 259 293 + 13.1 + 20.2 213 229 + 7.5 + 9.6 1,824 1,866 + 2.3 + 5.4

Continuing operations  
(incl. reconciliation) 3,011 3,697 + 22.8 + 22.6 1,823 2,140 +17.4 + 25.5 1,061 1,308 + 23.3 + 30.6 841 1,072 + 27.5 + 30.2 6,736 8,217 + 22.0 + 24.9

2006 figures restated
adj. = currency-adjusted

Sales by Region and Segment 
(by Market) Europe North America Asia/Pacific Latin America/Africa /Middle East Continuing Operations

 

€ million
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007 % adj. %
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007 % adj. %
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007 % adj. %
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007 % adj. %
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007 % adj. %

HealthCare 1,785 3,061 + 71.5 + 71.5 1,384 2,238 + 61.7 + 74.5 643 989 + 53.8 + 64.8 648 1,039 + 60.3 + 70.4 4,460 7,327 + 64.3 + 68.6

Pharmaceuticals 928 2,153 + 132.0 + 132.0 669 1,450 + 116.7 + 133.7 479 817 + 70.6 + 83.8 260 658 + 153.1 + 166.9 2,336 5,078 + 117.4 + 121.4

Consumer Health 857 908 + 6.0 + 6.0 715 788 + 10.2 + 19.1 164 172 + 4.9 + 9.3 388 381 – 1.8 + 5.7 2,124 2,249 + 5.9 + 10.6

CropScience 1,436 1,537 + 7.0 + 6.8 999 878 – 12.1 – 5.3 473 456 – 3.6 + 1.0 441 477 + 8.2 + 13.0 3,349 3,348 0.0 + 3.2

Crop Protection 1,188 1,289 + 8.5 + 8.2 717 611 – 14.8 – 8.0 392 373 – 4.8 + 0.1 385 423 + 9.9 + 14.2 2,682 2,696 + 0.5 + 3.5

Environmental Science, BioScience 248 248 0.0 + 0.5 282 267 – 5.3 + 1.7 81 83 + 2.5 + 5.7 56 54 – 3.6 + 4.0 667 652 – 2.2 + 1.9

MaterialScience 2,182 2,354 + 7.9 + 7.9 1,368 1,244 – 9.1 – 1.7 926 1,043 + 12.6 + 20.1 557 590 + 5.9 + 10.6 5,033 5,231 + 3.9 + 7.8

Materials 557 572 + 2.7 + 2.7 302 298 – 1.3 + 6.6 436 484 + 11.0 + 18.5 138 142 + 2.9 + 6.7 1,433 1,496 + 4.4 + 8.7

Systems 1,625 1,782 + 9.7 + 9.7 1,066 946 – 11.3 – 4.1 490 559 + 14.1 + 21.6 419 448 + 6.9 + 11.9 3,600 3,735 + 3.8 + 7.5

Continuing operations  
(incl. reconciliation) 6,029 7,545 + 25.1 + 25.0 3,759 4,366 + 16.1 + 25.4 2,067 2,508 + 21.3 + 29.3 1,672 2,133 + 27.6 + 34.4 13,527 16,552 + 22.4 + 26.1

2006 figures restated
adj. = currency-adjusted
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Operating cash flow
Gross cash flow in the first half of 2007 amounted to €2,598 million, up 28.8 percent from 
the first half of 2006 (€2,017 million). The increase was mainly due to the inclusion of 
Schering, Berlin, Germany, and the strong performance of the business. Net cash flow 
improved by €271 million to €1,191 million (h1 2006: €920 million), thanks to the sub-
stantial cash inflows in the first quarter.

In the second quarter, however, net cash flow fell by €66 million to €816 million  
(q2 2006: €882 million), mainly because of higher tax payments, bonus payments and 
disbursements for restructuring. Provisions for these payments had been recorded and 
recognized in income in previous quarters. The total net cash flow including discontinued 
operations was €780 million (q2 2006: €1,002 million), with the decline attributable  
primarily to the discontinued operations. The prior-year figures included the operating 
cash flows of the since-divested Diagnostics and H.C. Starck businesses.

Investing cash flow
There was a net cash inflow of €4,536 million for investing activities in the first six 
months of 2007, compared to a €14,028 million outflow in the prior-year period. The 
main items this year were €3.5 billion in proceeds from the divestment of the Diagnostics 
business, €0.9 billion from the sale of H.C. Starck, and €0.4 billion from the divestment  
of Wolff Walsrode to The Dow Chemical Company in June 2007. 

The €4.3 billion transaction volume for the Diagnostics business comprised an initial 
receipt of €0.4 billion at the end of 2006 and a further purchase-price payment of  
€3.9 billion in the first quarter of 2007. After deducting €0.2 billion in divested cash 
and €0.2 billion in tax on the divestment gain paid in the second quarter, net proceeds 
of divestitures in the first half of 2007 totaled €3.5 billion. Further tax payments total-
ing some €0.3 billion will be due in subsequent quarters. We sold H.C. Starck to Advent 
International and The Carlyle Group for approximately €1.2 billion. The transaction 
volume consisted mainly of a cash component in excess of €0.9 billion, including the 
compensation for financial liabilities, along with the assumption of €0.2 billion in pension 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Bayer Group Summary Cash Flow Statements

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007

€ million

Gross cash flow* 928 1,187 2,017 2,598

Changes in working capital/other non-cash items (46) (371) (1,097) (1,407)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 
(net cash flow), continuing operations 882 816 920 1,191

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 
(net cash flow), discontinued operations 120 (36) 210 2

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 
(net cash flow) (total) 1,002 780 1,130 1,193

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (total) (13,836) (53) (14,028) 4,536

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (total) 12,320 (3,889) 12,133 (5,653)

Change in cash and cash equivalents  
due to business activities (total) (514) (3,162) (765) 76

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 3,026 6,143 3,290 2,915

Change due to exchange rate movements and to changes in 
scope of consolidation (21) (1) (34) (11)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 2,491 2,980 2,491 2,980

2006 figures restated
* for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2
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obligations. The €0.5 billion proceeds of the sale of Wolff Walsrode mainly comprised a 
cash component of €0.4 billion, including compensation for financial liabilities, and the 
assumption of pension obligations by the acquirer. 

Cash outflows for acquisitions consisted mainly of the us$ 310 million (approximately 
€230 million) purchase price for u.s. cotton seed producer Stoneville. Bayer CropScience 
acquired Stoneville Pedigreed Seed Company from Monsanto in June 2007 in order to 
strengthen the position of its BioScience business unit in the rapidly expanding u.s. cot-
ton seed market. Cash outflows in the prior-year period were largely attributable to the 
acquisition of Schering, Berlin, Germany. 

Cash outflows for property, plant and equipment in the first half of 2007 came to  
€594 million (h1 2006: €566 million) and those for intangible assets to €47 million  
(h1 2006: €193 million), giving a total of €641 million (h1 2006: €759 million). This  
figure chiefly comprised expenditures for the expansion of our polymers production facili-
ties in Caojing, China. Prior-year cash outflows for intangible assets included in particular 
the purchase of the European marketing rights for the blood pressure treatments Pritor® 
and PritorPlus®.

Financing cash flow
Net cash outflow for financing activities in the first half of 2007 amounted to €5,653 million 
(h1 2006: €12,133 million inflow). Net loan repayments totaled €3,893 million, including 
€2.1 billion for the scheduled redemption of our 2002/2007 Eurobond in April 2007. The 
Bayer AG dividend and dividend payments to minority stockholders of consolidated com-
panies accounted for a further €775 million (h1 2006: €527 million). The item “Bayer AG 
dividend, dividend payments to minority stockholders” in the prior-year period contained an 
inflow of €176 million from the reimbursement of advance capital gains tax payments made 
on intragroup dividends in 2004.

As of June 30, 2007 the Bayer Group had cash and cash equivalents of €2,980 million,  
including €778 million held in escrow accounts. The latter amount comprises €698 million 
deposited in a guarantee account following the decision by the Extraordinary Stockholders’ 
Meeting of Bayer Schering Pharma AG on January 17, 2007 to squeeze out Bayer Schering 
Pharma AG’s remaining minority stockholders. The decision means the shares still held by 
minority stockholders will be transferred to the main stockholder, Bayer Schering GmbH, a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Bayer AG, in return for cash compensation of €98.98 per share. 
Dissenting stockholders are seeking to have the stockholder resolution set aside or to have it 
declared null and void. 

In view of the restriction on its use, the liquidity held in escrow accounts was not deducted 
when calculating net debt. 
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Liquid assets and net debt
Net debt (total) as of June 30, 2007 declined by €4.0 billion compared with December 
31, 2006, to €13.6 billion, primarily because of cash inflows from the divestitures and 
also due to the improvement in operating cash flow. The increase compared with March 
31, 2007 was mainly attributable to a dividend payment of €0.8 billion, along with the 
expected high level of interest and tax payments in the second quarter.

Employees

The number of employees is shown as full-time equivalents, which means part-time 
employees are included in proportion to their contractual working hours. We believe this 
presentation improves the comparability of personnel expenses and employee numbers.
 
On June 30, 2007 the Bayer Group had 104,600 employees, 1.3 percent fewer than on 
December 31, 2006. Personnel expenses in the first half of the year increased by  
28.1 percent to €3,792 million (h1 2006: €2,961 million), mainly due to the inclusion of 
personnel expenses for the employees of the former Schering group. 

We currently employ 16,600 people in North America, 18,000 in Asia/Pacific, 13,800 in 
Latin America/Africa/Middle East and 56,200 in Europe. Our 39,200 employees in Ger-
many account for 37.5 percent of the Group total.

Net Debt
Dec. 31,

2006
March 31, 

2007
June 30, 

2007

€ million

Noncurrent financial liabilities as per balance sheets  
(including derivatives) 14,723 14,626 13,644

		  of which mandatory convertible bond 2,276 2,278 2,280

		  of which hybrid bond 1,247 1,245 1,234

Current financial liabilities as per balance sheets  
(including derivatives) 5,078 3,673 2,309

		  Derivative receivables (185) (165) (194)

Financial liabilities 19,616 18,134 15,759

		  Cash and cash equivalents* (2,116) (5,359) (2,202)

		  Current financial assets (27) (5) (6)

Net debt from continuing operations 17,473 12,770 13,551

Net debt from discontinued operations 66 7 0

Net debt (total) 17,539 12,777 13,551

* �In view of the restriction on its use, the €778 million liquidity in escrow accounts in the second quarter of 2007 (Q2 2006: €304 million) 
was not deducted when calculating net debt. June 30, 2007: €2,202 million = €2,980 million - €778 million (March 31, 2007: €5,359 mil-
lion = €6,143 million - €784 million; Dec. 31, 2006: €2,116 million = €2,915 million - €799 million).
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As a global company with a diverse business portfolio, the Bayer Group is exposed to 
numerous risks which are monitored within the context of a risk management system. 
These risks include financial risks and, in particular, business-specific selling market 
risks, procurement market risks, product development risks, patent risks, and product and 
environmental risks.

Legal risks exist particularly in the areas of product liability, competition and antitrust 
law, patent disputes, tax assessments and environmental matters. The outcome of any 
current or future proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty. It is therefore possible 
that legal or regulatory judgments or settlements could give rise to expenses that are not 
covered, or not fully covered, by insurers’ compensation payments and could significantly 
affect our revenues and earnings.

To find out more about the Bayer Group’s overall risk situation, please see pages 80 to 
88 of the Bayer Annual Report 2006, which can be downloaded free of charge at www.
bayer.com. Since publication of the Bayer Annual Report 2006, the following significant 
changes have occurred in respect of the legal risks:

Proceedings involving syringe injectors and related products: As stated on page 87 of 
the Bayer Annual Report 2006, Liebel-Flarsheim Company and its parents, Mallinckrodt, 
Inc. and Tyco Healthcare Group LP, filed suit against Bayer’s u.s. subsidiary Medrad 
alleging that some of Medrad’s front load syringe injectors infringe patents held by 
Liebel-Flarsheim. In March 2007, the u.s. Court of Appeals decided that the Liebel-
Flarsheim patents are invalid. The legal risks involved in these proceedings are no longer 
material for the Bayer Group. 

Proceedings involving genetically modified rice: On page 86 of the Bayer Annual 
Report 2006 we described lawsuits and putative class actions filed against Bayer in the 
United States after traces of the genetically modified rice llrice 601 from the Liberty 
Link product line were identified in samples of conventional long-grain rice grown in the 
u.s. In March 2007, traces of llrice 62 and llrice 604 were then found in Clearfield 
131 conventional hybrid rice marketed by basf. Subsequently the usda issued an order 
temporarily prohibiting the sale or planting of Clearfield 131. The usda and the fda have 
stated that llrice 62, 601 and 604 do not constitute a health risk and are safe for use in 
food and feed and for the environment. Bayer believes it has meritorious defenses against 
claims made or any possible future claims and intends to defend these cases vigorously. 
Bayer has recorded a provision of €29 million for related defense costs.

Arbitration proceedings concerning propylene oxide: As reported on page 86 of the 
Bayer Annual Report 2006, an arbitration panel in May 2006 issued a final award in favor 
of Lyondell Chemical Co. in respect of a dispute with Bayer over interpretation of their 
joint venture agreements for the manufacture of propylene oxide. Bayer was seeking to 
vacate the final award, while Lyondell was seeking to confirm the award as well as obtain 
pre-award interest. On March 20, 2007, the Texas District Court denied Bayer´s motion to 
vacate, confirmed in part the final award and ordered additional discovery relevant to one 
issue on which confirmation was not granted.  Bayer has established appropriate provi-
sions for the entire matter. In January 2007, Bayer filed a suit against Lyondell in the Del-
aware State Court of Chancery, seeking equitable reformation of one of the agreements 
relating to the joint venture and restitution of certain monies paid or allegedly owing by 
Bayer to Lyondell.
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Proceedings involving the oral contraceptive Yasmin®: On page 86 of the Bayer Annual 
Report 2006, we reported that, in April 2005, Bayer Schering Pharma filed an anda iv suit 
against Barr Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Barr Laboratories Inc. in u.s. federal court alleging 
patent infringement by Barr for the intended generic version of Bayer Schering Pharma’s 
Yasmin® oral contraceptive product in the United States. In June 2005 Barr filed its coun-
terclaim seeking to invalidate Bayer Schering Pharma’s patent. Trial of the matter has 
been set to start on November 15, 2007. Bayer highly values its Yasmin® oral contracep-
tive product and is deeply committed to maintaining its leadership position in oral contra-
ception. Bayer will continue to vigorously defend its rights in this litigation.

As far as can be seen today, no risks have been identified which alone or in combination 
could jeopardize the continued existence of the Bayer Group.
 

Subsequent Events

On July 1, 2007, Bayer MaterialScience completed the acquisition of the Ure-Tech Group, 
Taiwan, a supplier of tpu resins and films. In 2006, the approximately 200 employees of 
the Ure-Tech Group generated sales of around us$ 60 million. In the same period, Bayer 
MaterialScience’s Thermoplastic Polyurethanes business unit employed some 450 people 
and had sales of €205 million.



31Calculation of EBIT(DA) Before Special Items 

To permit a more accurate assessment of business operations, ebit and ebitda are also 
stated “before special items.” The special items concerned are detailed in the table below. 
“ebitda,” “ebitda before special items” and “ebit before special items” are not defined in 
the International Financial Reporting Standards and should therefore be regarded only as 
supplementary information.
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Special Items Reconciliation

EBIT  
2nd 

Quarter 
2006

EBIT  
2nd 

Quarter 
2007

EBIT
  

1st Half 
2006

EBIT
  

1st Half 
2007

EBITDA  
2nd 

Quarter 
2006

EBITDA  
2nd 

Quarter 
2007

EBITDA
  

1st Half 
2006

EBITDA

1st Half 
2007

€ million			 

After special items 877 917 1,926 2,092 1,269 1,572 2,705 3,346

HealthCare 16 209 22 348 16 181 22 346

Schering PPA effects* 0 33 0 53 0 50 0 114

Employees (Schering integration costs) 0 85 0 158 0 85 0 158

External consultancy and IT costs  
(Schering integration costs) 4 22 4 29 4 22 4 29

Depreciation and amortization  
(Schering integration costs) 0 45 0 63 0 0 0 0

Other Schering integration costs 10 24 10 45 10 24 10 45

Litigation 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0

Other 2 0 3 0 2 0 3 0

CropScience 0 51 0 90 0 48 0 84

Restructuring 0 18 0 57 0 15 0 51

Litigation 0 33 0 33 0 33 0 33

MaterialScience 18 24 130 30 18 20 130 20

Restructuring 0 24 0 30 0 20 0 20

Litigation 18 0 130 0 18 0 130 0

Reconciliation 0 (16) 10 0 0 (15) 10 0

Restructuring Industry Services 0 (16) 0 0 0 (15) 0 0

Litigation 0 0 10 0 0 0 10 0

Total special items 34 268 162 468 34 234 162 450

Before special items 911 1,185 2,088 2,560 1,303 1,806 2,867 3,796

2006 figures restated
* �The purchase price paid for Schering AG, Germany, was allocated among the acquired assets and assumed liabilities in accordance with the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS). The purchase price allocation resulted in total charges to EBIT of €242 million in the second quarter of 2007. To ensure comparability 
with future earnings data, the expected long-term effects of the step-up are reflected in EBIT and EBITDA before special items, whereas temporary, non-cash effects 
of the purchase price allocation are eliminated. When calculating EBIT before special items, we deducted a €33 million special charge recorded in this connection. 
EBIT before special items therefore reflects €209 million in charges resulting from the purchase price allocation. EBITDA before special items remains unaffected by 
the purchase price allocation.
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Bayer stock maintained its upward trend in the second quarter of 2007, closing on June 
30, 2007 at €56.10, up 38.0 percent from the closing price at the end of 2006. Including 
the dividend of €1.00 per share for 2006 paid on April 30, 2007, our stock achieved a  
performance of 40.7 percent in the first half of 2007. Over the same period the dax rose 
21.4 percent to 8,007 points.

In the second quarter Bayer held a HealthCare Investor Day in Leverkusen. This included 
numerous presentations and discussion forums at which Bayer provided information 
on topics such as the combined research and development pipeline of Bayer Schering 
Pharma, trends regarding our pharmaceuticals products, and the future strategy for the 
Consumer Health business. Webcasts of the presentations are available on the Internet at 
www.investor.bayer.com.

Bayer Stock Key Data
2nd Quarter 

2006
2nd Quarter 

2007
1st Half  

2006
1st Half  

2007

High for the period € 36.75 56.68 36.75 56.68

Low for the period € 30.56 47.58 30.56 40.20

Average daily share turnover on 
German stock exchanges million 7.3 6.2 6.4 5.9

June 30, 
2006

June 30, 
2007

Dec. 31, 
2006

Change 
June 30, 2007/ 
Dec. 31, 2006 

%

Share price € 35.94 56.10 40.66 38.0

Market capitalization € million 26,248 42,879 31,078 38.0

Stockholders’ equity € million 12,827 16,249 12,851 26.4

Number of shares entitled to the dividend million 730.34 764.34 764.34 0.0

DAX 5,683 8,007 6,597 21,4

XETRA closing price; source: Bloomberg
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33ubs AG, Switzerland, informed us pursuant to Section 21, Paragraph 1 of the German 
Securities Trading Act (WpHG) that the proportion of voting rights it holds in our com-
pany exceeded the 3 percent threshold defined therein on May 24, 2007, and that since 
that date it has held 3.18 percent of the voting rights. Of these voting rights, 0.02 percent 
are to be attributed to ubs AG pursuant to Section 22, Paragraph 1, Sentence 1, No. 1 of 
the Securities Trading Act (“undertakings controlled by the notifying party”).

Calculation of core earnings per share 
Earnings per share according to ifrs are affected by the purchase price allocation and 
other special factors. To enhance comparability, we also determine core net income from 
continuing operations after elimination of the amortization of intangible assets, asset 
write-downs (including any impairment losses), special items in ebitda and extraordinary 
factors affecting income from investments in affiliated companies (such as divestment 
gains or write-downs), including the related tax effects.

The expected €0.9 billion in one-time non-cash tax income related to the German corpo-
rate tax reform, mentioned on page 7, represents a special tax effect and has therefore 
been eliminated.

The calculation of earnings per share in accordance with ifrs is explained in the notes 
to this interim report on page 42. Adjusted core net income, core earnings per share and 
core ebit are not defined in the International Financial Reporting Standards. Therefore 
they should be regarded as supplementary information rather than stand-alone indicators.
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Calculation of Core EBIT and Core Earnings per Share
2nd Quarter 

2006
2nd Quarter 

2007
1st Half 

 2006
1st Half 

 2007

€ million

EBIT as per income statement 877 917 1,926 2,092

Amortization and write-downs of intangible assets 147 325 278 618

Write-downs of property, plant and equipment - 53 6 77

Special items (other than write-downs) 34 234 162 450

Core EBIT 1,058 1,529 2,372 3,237

Non-operating result (as per income statement) (228) (257) (438) (475)

Extraordinary income/loss from investments in affiliated companies - - - -

Income taxes (as per income statement) (198) (247) (475) (548)

Tax adjustment (63) (205) (156) (382)

Income after taxes attributable to minority interest 
(as per income statement) (3) 3 0 2

Core net income from continuing operations 566 823 1,303 1,834

Financing expenses for the mandatory convertible bond,  
net of tax effects 23 24 23 48

Adjusted core net income 589 847 1,326 1,882

Shares

Weighted average number of issued ordinary shares 730,341,920 764,341,920 730,341,920 764,341,920

Potential shares to be issued upon conversion  
of the mandatory convertible bond 63,254,424 59,565,835 31,801,948 59,544,939

Adjusted weighted average total number of issued and  
potential ordinary shares 793,596,344 823,907,755 762,143,868 823,886,859

Core earnings per share from continuing operations (€) 0.74 1.03 1.74 2.28
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Bayer Group Consolidated Statements of Income

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007

€ million

Net sales 6,736 8,217 13,527 16,552

Cost of goods sold (3,571) (4,072) (7,009) (8,206)

Gross profit 3,165 4,145 6,518 8,346

Selling expenses (1,442) (1,919) (2,807) (3,726)

Research and development expenses (439) (650) (853) (1,275)

General administration expenses (377) (425) (730) (861)

Other operating income 167 228 375 371

Other operating expenses (197) (462) (577) (763)

Operating result (EBIT) 877 917 1,926 2,092

Equity-method loss (3) (13) (11) (27)

Non-operating income 151 190 294 432

Non-operating expenses (376) (434) (721) (880)

Non-operating result (228) (257) (438) (475)

Income before income taxes 649 660 1,488 1,617

Income taxes (198) (247) (475) (548)

Income from continuing operations after taxes 451 413 1,013 1,069

Income from discontinued operations after taxes 4 244 39 2,398

Income after taxes 455 657 1,052 3,467

		  of which attributable to minority interest 3 (3) 0 (2)

	� of which attributable to Bayer AG stockholders  
(net income) 452 660 1,052 3,469

Earnings per share (€)

From continuing operations

		  Basic* 0.59 0.53 1.36 1.36

		  Diluted* 0.59 0.53 1.36 1.36

From continuing and discontinued operations

		  Basic* 0.60 0.83 1.41 4.27

		  Diluted* 0.60 0.83 1.41 4.27

2006 figures restated
* The ordinary shares to be issued upon conversion of the mandatory convertible bond are treated as already issued shares.



35Bayer Group Consolidated Balance Sheets

June 30, 
2006

June 30, 
2007

Dec. 31, 
2006

€ million

Noncurrent assets

Goodwill 7,753 8,439 8,227

Other intangible assets 15,922 15,112 15,807

Property, plant and equipment 9,208 8,662 8,867

Investments in associates 760 501 532

Other financial assets 1,528 1,190 1,094

Other receivables 261 413 176

Deferred taxes 982 773 1,205

36,414 35,090 35,908

Current assets

Inventories 7,044 6,277 6,153

Trade accounts receivable 6,638 6,843 5,802

Other financial assets 445 252 401

Other receivables 1,530 1,637 1,567

Claims for income tax refunds 232 243 220

Cash and cash equivalents 2,491 2,980 2,915

Assets held for sale and discontinued operations 1,396 82 2,925

19,776 18,314 19,983

Total assets 56,190 53,404 55,891

Stockholders’ equity

Capital stock of Bayer AG 1,870 1,957 1,957

Capital reserves of Bayer AG 2,942 4,028 4,028

Other reserves 6,865 10,183 6,782

11,677 16,168 12,767

Equity attributable to minority interest 1,150 81 84

12,827 16,249 12,851

Noncurrent liabilities

Provisions for pensions and other post-employment benefits 6,237 5,550 6,543

Other provisions 1,771 1,671 1,464

Financial liabilities 10,373 13,644 14,723

Other liabilities 517 504 449

Deferred taxes 4,240 4,347 4,346

23,138 25,716 27,525

Current liabilities

Other provisions 3,803 4,087 3,765

Financial liabilities 12,053 2,309 5,078

Trade accounts payable 1,995 2,244 2,369

Income tax liabilities 116 127 109

Other liabilities 1,822 2,672 3,346

Liabilities directly related to assets held for sale
and discontinued operations 436 - 848

20,225 11,439 15,515

Total stockholders’ equity and liabilities 56,190 53,404 55,891
2006 figures reclassified
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Bayer Group Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007

€ million

Income from continuing operations after taxes 451 413 1,013 1,069

Income taxes 198 247 475 548

Non-operating result 228 257 438 475

Income taxes paid (284) (342) (500) (685)

Depreciation and amortization 392 655 779 1,254

Change in pension provisions (50) (86) (180) (182)

(Gains) losses on retirements of noncurrent assets (7) (6) (8) 6

Non-cash effects of the remeasurement 
of acquired assets (inventory work-down) - 49 - 113

Gross cash flow 928 1,187 2,017 2,598

Decrease (increase) in inventories 11 38 (103) (175)

Decrease (increase) in trade accounts receivable 25 (52) (864) (1,063)

(Decrease) increase in trade accounts payable (40) 16 (271) (98)

Changes in other working capital, other non-cash items (42) (373) 141 (71)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  
(net cash flow), continuing operations 882 816 920 1,191

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 
(net cash flow), discontinued operations 120 (36) 210 2

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 
(net cash flow) (total) 1,002 780 1,130 1,193

Cash outflows for property, plant, equipment and intangible assets (340) (440) (759) (641)

Cash inflows from sales of property, plant,  
equipment and other assets 24 13 44 31

Cash inflows from divestitures less divested cash 39 230 39 4,903

Cash outflows for acquisitions less acquired cash (14,110) (235) (14,130) (257)

Cash inflows from noncurrent financial assets 43 3 69 8

Interest and dividends received 375 376 482 469

Cash inflows/outflows from current financial assets 133 0 227 23

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (total) (13,836) (53) (14,028) 4,536

Bayer AG dividend, dividend payments to minority stockholders,
reimbursements of advance capital gains tax payments (692) (766) (527) (775)

Issuances of debt 13,493 1,159 13,762 1,603

Retirements of debt (20) (3,542) (413) (5,496)

Interest paid (461) (740) (689) (985)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (total) 12,320 (3,889) 12,133 (5,653)

Change in cash and cash equivalents  
due to business activities (total) (514) (3,162) (765) 76

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 3,026 6,143 3,290 2,915

Change in cash and cash equivalents  
due to changes in scope of consolidation 0 (3) (2) (4)

Change in cash and cash equivalents  
due to exchange rate movements (21) 2 (32) (7)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 2,491 2,980 2,491 2,980

2006 figures restated
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2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007

€ million

Changes in fair values of derivatives designated as hedges and 
available-for-sale financial assets, recognized in stockholders’ equity (21) (3) (12) (2)

Changes in actuarial gains/losses on defined benefit obligations  
for pensions and other post-employment benefits, recognized in 
stockholders’ equity 382 774 1,187 1,105

Exchange differences on translation of operations outside  
the euro zone, recognized in stockholders’ equity (331) (36) (475) 7

Deferred taxes on valuation adjustments offset directly against 
stockholders’ equity (146) (297) (461) (431)

Changes due to changes in scope of consolidation - 5 - 36

Valuation adjustments recognized directly  
in stockholders’ equity (116) 443 239 715

Minority interests in partnerships,  
recognized in stockholders’ equity - (12) - (19)

Income after taxes 455 657 1,052 3,467

Total income and expense recognized in the  
financial statements 339 1,088 1,291 4,163

		  of which attributable to minority interest 2 (4) (3) (2)

		  of which attributable to Bayer AG stockholders 337 1,092 1,294 4,165

2006 figures restated

Bayer Group Consolidated Statements
of Recognized Income and Expense
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Segment HealthCare CropScience MaterialScience

Pharmaceuticals Consumer Health Crop Protection
Environmental  

Science, BioScience Materials Systems Reconciliation
Continuing  
Operations

€ million

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

Net sales (external) 1,188 2,583 1,069 1,134 1,269 1,262 309 300 723 757 1,824 1,866 354 315 6,736 8,217

		  Change + 20.2% +117.4% + 5.3% + 6.1% – 3.7% – 0.6% + 8.0% – 2.9% – 0.7% + 4.7% + 8.0% + 2.3% + 5.8% + 22.0%

		  Currency-adjusted change + 20.5% +120.6% + 4.6% + 9.7% – 4.8% + 1.4% + 8.0% – 0.2% – 1.1% + 8.5% + 7.3% + 5.4% + 5.2% + 24.9%

Intersegment sales 12 10 1 1 17 16 1 2 7 4 43 37 (81) (70)

Operating result (EBIT) 159 207 196 224 159 180 71 31 101 29 217 237 (26) 9 877 917

Depreciation, amortization and write-downs/write-backs 64 323 35 34 118 117 20 20 38 42 76 81 41 38 392 655

Gross cash flow* 157 381 179 164 227 219 62 40 105 55 222 238 (24) 90 928 1,187

Net cash flow* 284 202 83 82 434 313 100 181 88 25 163 253 (270) (240) 882 816

2006 figures restated
* for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2

Notes to the Consolidated Interim Financial Statements of 
the Bayer Group as of June 30, 2007

Key Data by Segment

Segment HealthCare CropScience MaterialScience

Pharmaceuticals Consumer Health Crop Protection
Environmental  

Science, BioScience Materials Systems Reconciliation
Continuing  
Operations

€ million
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007

Net sales (external) 2,336 5,078 2,124 2,249 2,682 2,696 667 652 1,433 1,496 3,600 3,735 685 646 13,527 16,552

		  Change + 20.4% +117.4% + 13.0% + 5.9% – 1.9% + 0.5% + 8.8% – 2.2% + 5.2% + 4.4% + 8.8% + 3.8% + 8.5% + 22.4%

		  Currency-adjusted change + 17.9% +121.4% + 9.8% + 10.6% – 5.3% + 3.5% + 5.5% + 1.9% + 2.5% + 8.7% + 6.1% + 7.5% + 5.7% + 26.1%

Intersegment sales 25 22 3 4 35 34 3 4 13 8 82 75 (161) (147)

Operating result (EBIT) 361 488 373 428 444 484 194 135 233 67 396 484 (75) 6 1,926 2,092

Depreciation, amortization and write-downs/write-backs 103 588 76 67 239 238 42 39 76 84 154 163 89 75 779 1,254

Gross cash flow* 319 771 309 331 512 501 164 127 231 124 413 473 69 271 2,017 2,598

Net cash flow* 273 481 137 186 145 200 39 56 123 0 401 315 (198) (47) 920 1,191

Number of employees at end of period* 40,500 39,200 10,900 11,100 15,400 14,800 2,800 3,000 4,900 5,000 9,800 10,200 21,400 21,300 105,700 104,600

2006 figures restated
* for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2
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Segment HealthCare CropScience MaterialScience

Pharmaceuticals Consumer Health Crop Protection
Environmental  

Science, BioScience Materials Systems Reconciliation
Continuing  
Operations

€ million

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

Net sales (external) 1,188 2,583 1,069 1,134 1,269 1,262 309 300 723 757 1,824 1,866 354 315 6,736 8,217

		  Change + 20.2% +117.4% + 5.3% + 6.1% – 3.7% – 0.6% + 8.0% – 2.9% – 0.7% + 4.7% + 8.0% + 2.3% + 5.8% + 22.0%

		  Currency-adjusted change + 20.5% +120.6% + 4.6% + 9.7% – 4.8% + 1.4% + 8.0% – 0.2% – 1.1% + 8.5% + 7.3% + 5.4% + 5.2% + 24.9%

Intersegment sales 12 10 1 1 17 16 1 2 7 4 43 37 (81) (70)

Operating result (EBIT) 159 207 196 224 159 180 71 31 101 29 217 237 (26) 9 877 917

Depreciation, amortization and write-downs/write-backs 64 323 35 34 118 117 20 20 38 42 76 81 41 38 392 655

Gross cash flow* 157 381 179 164 227 219 62 40 105 55 222 238 (24) 90 928 1,187

Net cash flow* 284 202 83 82 434 313 100 181 88 25 163 253 (270) (240) 882 816

2006 figures restated
* for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2

Segment HealthCare CropScience MaterialScience

Pharmaceuticals Consumer Health Crop Protection
Environmental  

Science, BioScience Materials Systems Reconciliation
Continuing  
Operations

€ million
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007

Net sales (external) 2,336 5,078 2,124 2,249 2,682 2,696 667 652 1,433 1,496 3,600 3,735 685 646 13,527 16,552

		  Change + 20.4% +117.4% + 13.0% + 5.9% – 1.9% + 0.5% + 8.8% – 2.2% + 5.2% + 4.4% + 8.8% + 3.8% + 8.5% + 22.4%

		  Currency-adjusted change + 17.9% +121.4% + 9.8% + 10.6% – 5.3% + 3.5% + 5.5% + 1.9% + 2.5% + 8.7% + 6.1% + 7.5% + 5.7% + 26.1%

Intersegment sales 25 22 3 4 35 34 3 4 13 8 82 75 (161) (147)

Operating result (EBIT) 361 488 373 428 444 484 194 135 233 67 396 484 (75) 6 1,926 2,092

Depreciation, amortization and write-downs/write-backs 103 588 76 67 239 238 42 39 76 84 154 163 89 75 779 1,254

Gross cash flow* 319 771 309 331 512 501 164 127 231 124 413 473 69 271 2,017 2,598

Net cash flow* 273 481 137 186 145 200 39 56 123 0 401 315 (198) (47) 920 1,191

Number of employees at end of period* 40,500 39,200 10,900 11,100 15,400 14,800 2,800 3,000 4,900 5,000 9,800 10,200 21,400 21,300 105,700 104,600

2006 figures restated
* for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2
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Region Europe North America Asia/Pacific
Latin America/ 

Africa/Middle East Reconciliation
Continuing 
Operations

€ million

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

Net sales (external) – by market + 3,011 3,697 1,823 2,140 1,061 1,308 841 1,072 6,736 8,217

		  Change + 4.2% + 22.8% + 7.6% + 17.4% + 3.9% + 23.3% + 10.1% + 27.5% + 5.8% + 22.0%

		  Currency-adjusted change + 4.1% + 22.6% + 5.9% + 25.5% + 4.3% + 30.6% + 9.0% + 30.2% + 5.2% + 24.9%

Net sales (external) – by point of origin 3,260 3,970 1,826 2,160 1,021 1,266 629 821 6,736 8,217

		  Change + 5.3% + 21.8% + 7.5% + 18.3% + 2.6 % + 24.0% + 8.6% + 30.5% + 5.8% + 22.0%

		  Currency-adjusted change + 5.2% + 21.7% + 5.9% + 26.5% + 3.0 % + 31.6% + 7.4% + 33.8% + 5.2% + 24.9%

Interregional sales 895 1,271 428 530 43 62 39 59 (1,405) (1,922)

Operating result (EBIT) 518 629 249 192 90 67 61 75 (41) (46) 877 917

2006 figures restated

Key Data by Region

Region Europe North America Asia/Pacific
Latin America/ 

Africa/Middle East Reconciliation
Continuing 
Operations

€ million
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007

Net sales (external) – by market 6,029 7,545 3,759 4,366 2,067 2,508 1,672 2,133 13,527 16,552

		  Change + 5.5% + 25.1% + 14.0% + 16.1% + 5.7% + 21.3% + 11.6% + 27.6% + 8.5% + 22.4%

		  Currency-adjusted change + 5.3% + 25.0% + 7.8% + 25.4% + 3.3% + 29.3% + 5.4% + 34.4% + 5.7% + 26.1%

Net sales (external) – by point of origin 6,486 8,123 3,778 4,380 1,985 2,403 1,278 1,646 13,527 16,552

		  Change + 6.1% + 25.2% + 14.2% + 15.9% + 4.7 % + 21.1% + 11.3% + 28.8% + 8.5 % + 22.4%

		  Currency-adjusted change + 6.0% + 25.1% + 7.9% + 25.3% + 2.2 % + 29.3% + 3.5% + 37.3% + 5.7 % + 26.1%

Interregional sales 1,940 2,645 905 1,046 102 115 81 116 (3,028) (3,922)

Operating result (EBIT) 1,181 1,353 511 549 213 140 105 138 (84) (88) + 1,926 2,092

Number of employees at end of period* 58,000 56,200 17,200 16,600 16,800 18,000 13,700 13,800 105,700 104,600

2006 figures restated
* Number of employees in full-time equivalents
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Region Europe North America Asia/Pacific
Latin America/ 

Africa/Middle East Reconciliation
Continuing 
Operations

€ million

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

Net sales (external) – by market + 3,011 3,697 1,823 2,140 1,061 1,308 841 1,072 6,736 8,217

		  Change + 4.2% + 22.8% + 7.6% + 17.4% + 3.9% + 23.3% + 10.1% + 27.5% + 5.8% + 22.0%

		  Currency-adjusted change + 4.1% + 22.6% + 5.9% + 25.5% + 4.3% + 30.6% + 9.0% + 30.2% + 5.2% + 24.9%

Net sales (external) – by point of origin 3,260 3,970 1,826 2,160 1,021 1,266 629 821 6,736 8,217

		  Change + 5.3% + 21.8% + 7.5% + 18.3% + 2.6 % + 24.0% + 8.6% + 30.5% + 5.8% + 22.0%

		  Currency-adjusted change + 5.2% + 21.7% + 5.9% + 26.5% + 3.0 % + 31.6% + 7.4% + 33.8% + 5.2% + 24.9%

Interregional sales 895 1,271 428 530 43 62 39 59 (1,405) (1,922)

Operating result (EBIT) 518 629 249 192 90 67 61 75 (41) (46) 877 917

2006 figures restated

Region Europe North America Asia/Pacific
Latin America/ 

Africa/Middle East Reconciliation
Continuing 
Operations

€ million
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007

Net sales (external) – by market 6,029 7,545 3,759 4,366 2,067 2,508 1,672 2,133 13,527 16,552

		  Change + 5.5% + 25.1% + 14.0% + 16.1% + 5.7% + 21.3% + 11.6% + 27.6% + 8.5% + 22.4%

		  Currency-adjusted change + 5.3% + 25.0% + 7.8% + 25.4% + 3.3% + 29.3% + 5.4% + 34.4% + 5.7% + 26.1%

Net sales (external) – by point of origin 6,486 8,123 3,778 4,380 1,985 2,403 1,278 1,646 13,527 16,552

		  Change + 6.1% + 25.2% + 14.2% + 15.9% + 4.7 % + 21.1% + 11.3% + 28.8% + 8.5 % + 22.4%

		  Currency-adjusted change + 6.0% + 25.1% + 7.9% + 25.3% + 2.2 % + 29.3% + 3.5% + 37.3% + 5.7 % + 26.1%

Interregional sales 1,940 2,645 905 1,046 102 115 81 116 (3,028) (3,922)

Operating result (EBIT) 1,181 1,353 511 549 213 140 105 138 (84) (88) + 1,926 2,092

Number of employees at end of period* 58,000 56,200 17,200 16,600 16,800 18,000 13,700 13,800 105,700 104,600

2006 figures restated
* Number of employees in full-time equivalents
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Calculation of Earnings per Share
2nd Quarter 

2006
2nd Quarter 

2007
1st Half 

 2006
1st Half

 2007

€ million   

Income after taxes 455 657 1,052 3,467

		  Income attributable to minority interest 3 (3) 0 (2)

		�  Income attributable to Bayer AG stockholders 452 660 1,052 3,469

Income from discontinued operations 4 244 39 2,398

Financing expenses for the mandatory  
convertible bond, net of tax effects 23 24 23 48

Adjusted income after taxes  
from continuing operations 471 440 1,036 1,119

Adjusted net income 475 684 1,075 3,517

Weighted average number  
of issued ordinary shares 730,341,920 764,341,920 730,341,920 764,341,920

Potential shares to be issued upon conversion 
of the mandatory convertible bond 63,254,424 59,565,835 31,801,948 59,544,939

Adjusted weighted average total number  
of issued and potential ordinary shares 793,596,344 823,907,755 762,143,868 823,886,859

Basic earnings per share (€)

		  from continuing operations 0.59 0.53 1.36 1.36

		�  from continuing and discontinued operations 0.60 0.83 1.41 4.27

Diluted earnings per share (€)

		  from continuing operations 0.59 0.53 1.36 1.36

		�  from continuing and discontinued operations 0.60 0.83 1.41 4.27

2006 figures restated

Explanatory Notes 

Accounting policies
Pursuant to Section 315a of the German Commercial Code, the consolidated interim financial state-
ments as of June 30, 2007 have been prepared according to the International Financial Report-
ing Standards (ifrs) – including ias 34 – of the International Accounting Standards Board (iasb), 
London, which are endorsed by the European Union, and the Interpretations of the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (ifric), in effect at the closing date.

Reference should be made as appropriate to the notes to the consolidated financial statements for 
the 2006 fiscal year, particularly with regard to recognition and valuation principles.

Information on earnings per share
The ordinary shares to be issued upon conversion of the mandatory convertible bond are treated as 
already issued shares. Diluted earnings per share are therefore equal to basic earnings per share.



43Changes in the Bayer Group
Scope of consolidation
As of June 30, 2007, the Bayer Group comprised 347 fully or proportionately consolidated 
companies, compared with 432 companies as of December 31, 2006. This decrease is 
primarily the result of companies leaving the group through the Diagnostics, H.C. Starck 
and Wolff Walsrode divestitures and of intragroup mergers of companies as part of the 
integration of Schering, Berlin, Germany.

Consolidation of Schering
In June 2006, the majority of the shares of Schering AG, Berlin, Germany, were acquired 
by Bayer Schering GmbH (then known as Dritte BV GmbH), a subsidiary of Bayer AG. 
As of June 23, 2006, Schering AG was included in full in the consolidated financial state-
ments of the Bayer Group. As of June 30, 2007, Bayer Schering GmbH held 96.3 percent 
of the shares of Bayer Schering Pharma AG.

The Extraordinary Stockholders’ Meeting of Bayer Schering Pharma AG resolved on Janu-
ary 17, 2007, to effect a squeeze-out of the remaining minority stockholders. The decision 
means the shares still held by minority stockholders will be transferred to the main stock-
holder, Bayer Schering GmbH, in return for cash compensation of €98.98 per share. Rec-
ognition of the expected cash compensation and the guaranteed dividend for the minority 
stockholders as liabilities increases the purchase price by €736 million to €17,007 million.

The purchase price allocation has since been completed and is almost unchanged com-
pared with December 31, 2006. The finalized allocation reflects a €33 million reduction in 
the value of research and development projects, reclassifications between other asset and 
liability items and a corresponding €65 million increase in goodwill.

Acquisitions
On May 31, 2007 an agreement was signed to acquire Stoneville Pedigreed Seed Com-
pany, a leading u.s. producer of cotton seeds, from Monsanto for us$ 310 million 
(approximately €230 million). The acquired company was included in full in the consoli-
dated financial statements of the Bayer Group effective June 1, 2007. The as yet incom-
plete allocation of the purchase price among the acquired assets and liabilities at the 
date of acquisition resulted in the addition of more than €200 million in intangible assets, 
including goodwill, in the second quarter. Adjustments to the purchase price allocation 
may be made in the future. The goodwill remaining after the purchase price allocation 
is largely attributable to synergies in the areas of technology and marketing. In addition, 
the acquisition strengthens the position of Bayer’s BioScience business unit in the rapidly 
expanding u.s. cotton seed market.

Discontinued operations
In mid-2006 Bayer AG and Siemens AG signed an agreement concerning the sale of the 
Diagnostics business, which was transferred to the new owner on January 2, 2007.
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On November 23, 2006 an agreement was concluded to divest the activities of the H.C. 
Starck group, formerly assigned to the Materials segment, to a consortium of two finan-
cial investors, Advent International and The Carlyle Group. This business was transferred 
to the new owners on February 1, 2007.

The agreement to sell the companies of the Wolff Walsrode group, which operates 
principally in the field of cellulose chemistry, to The Dow Chemical Company, United 
States, was signed in December 2006. Wolff Walsrode also was formerly assigned to the 
Materials segment. Following approval by the antitrust authorities, the transfer of this 
business took place on June 30, 2007.

The Diagnostics activities, H.C. Starck and Wolff Walsrode are recognized as discontinued 
operations. The prior-period data have been restated accordingly.

This information, which is provided from the standpoint of the Bayer Group, is to be 
regarded as part of the reporting for the entire Bayer Group by analogy with our segment 
reporting and is not intended to portray either the discontinued operations or the remain-
ing operations of Bayer as separate entities. This presentation is thus in line with the prin-
ciples for reporting discontinued operations.

Discontinued Operations Diagnostics H.C. Starck Wolff Walsrode Total

€ million

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

2nd 
Quarter 

2006

2nd 
Quarter 

2007

Net sales 377 - 247 - 89 87 713 87

Operating result (EBIT)* 9 - (6) - 7 254 10 254

Income after taxes 6 - (5) - 3 244 4 244

Gross cash flow* 50 - 26 - 10 5 86 5

Net cash flow* 107 (39) 11 - 2 3 120 (36)

Net investing cash flow (17) (209) (12) - (4) 432 (33) 223

Net financing cash flow (90) 248 1 - 2 (435) (87) (187)

* for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2

€ million
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007
1st Half 

2006
1st Half 

2007

Net sales 755 - 494 74 167 172 1,416 246

Operating result (EBIT)* 40 2,778 16 109 13 267 69 3,154

Income after taxes 27 2,044 7 103 5 251 39 2,398

Gross cash flow* 114 (10) 53 14 20 15 187 19

Net cash flow* 171 (32) 37 26 2 8 210 2

Net investing cash flow (46) 3,539 (22) 922 (6) 430 (74) 4,891

Net financing cash flow (125) (3,507) (15) (948) 4 (438) (136) (4,893)

* for definition see Bayer Group Key Data on page 2



45Related parties
In the course of the operating business, materials, inventories and services are sourced 
from a large number of business partners around the world. These include companies in 
which an interest is held, and companies with which members of the Supervisory Board 
of Bayer AG are associated. Transactions with these companies are carried out on an 
arm’s-length basis. Business with such companies was not material from the viewpoint 
of the Bayer Group. The Bayer Group was not a party to any transaction of an unusual 
nature or structure that was material to it or to companies or persons closely associated 
with it, nor does it intend to be party to such transactions in the future.

Business transactions with companies included in the consolidated financial statements at 
equity, or at cost less impairment charges, mainly comprised trade in goods and services. 
The value of these transactions was, however, immaterial from the point of view of the 
Bayer Group. The same applies to financial receivables and payables vis-à-vis related par-
ties.

Leverkusen, July 31, 2007
Bayer Aktiengesellschaft

The Board of Management

Werner Wenning	 Klaus Kühn	 Dr. Wolfgang Plischke 	 Dr. Richard Pott
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Responsibility Statement 

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles 
for interim financial reporting, the interim consolidated financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the group, and the 
interim management report of the group includes a fair review of the development and per-
formance of the business and the position of the group, together with a description of the 
principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected development of the group for 
the remaining months of the financial year.

Leverkusen, July 31, 2007
Bayer Aktiengesellschaft

The Board of Management

Werner Wenning	 Klaus Kühn	 Dr. Wolfgang Plischke 	 Dr. Richard Pott



47Review Report

To Bayer AG, Leverkusen

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated interim financial statements – comprising 
the statement of income, balance sheet, cash flow statement, statement of recognized 
income and expense and selected explanatory notes – and the interim group management 
report of Bayer AG for the period from January 1, 2007 to June 30, 2007 which are part of 
the half-year financial report pursuant to § (Article) 37w WpHG ("Wertpapierhandelsge-
setz": German Securities Trading Act.) The preparation of the condensed consolidated 
interim financial statements in accordance with the ifrs applicable to interim financial 
reporting as adopted by the e.u. and of the interim group management report in accor-
dance with the provisions of the German Securities Trading Act applicable to interim 
group management reports is the responsibility of the parent company's Board of Man-
agement. Our responsibility is to issue a review report on the condensed consolidated 
interim financial statements and on the interim group management report based on our 
review.

We conducted our review of the condensed consolidated interim financial statements 
and the interim group management report in accordance with German generally 
accepted standards for the review of financial statements promulgated by the Institut 
der Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of Public Auditors in Germany) (idw) and additionally 
observed the International Standard on Review Engagements “Review of Interim Finan-
cial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity” (isre 2410). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the review so that we can preclude through 
critical evaluation, with moderate assurance, that the condensed consolidated interim 
financial statements have not been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance 
with the ifrs applicable to interim financial reporting as adopted by the e.u. and that 
the interim group management report has not been prepared, in all material respects, in 
accordance with the provisions of the German Securities Trading Act applicable to interim 
group management reports. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of company person-
nel and analytical procedures and therefore does not provide the assurance attainable in 
a financial statement audit. Since, in accordance with our engagement, we have not per-
formed a financial statement audit, we cannot express an audit opinion.

Based on our review, no matters have come to our attention that cause us to presume that 
the condensed consolidated interim financial statements have not been prepared, in all 
material respects, in accordance with the ifrs applicable to interim financial reporting as 
adopted by the e.u. nor that the interim group management report has not been prepared, 
in all material respects, in accordance with the provisions of the German Securities Trad-
ing Act applicable to interim group management reports.

Essen, August 6, 2007

PriceWaterhouseCoopers
Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

A. Slotta	 V. Linke
(German Public Auditor)	 (German Public Auditor) 
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Strengthened commitment in 
education and social affairs 

“Bayer has a long tradition of foundation 
activity, which we are continuing with the 
establishment of the Bayer Science & 
Education Foundation and the Bayer 
Cares Foundation,” says Werner Wen-
ning, Chairman of the Board of Manage-
ment of Bayer AG. “Both foundations 
should make valuable contributions to 
resolving social problems, fully in keeping 
with our Mission Statement, “Bayer: 
Science For A Better Life.” The two 
foundations have a combined capital of 
€17.4 million. Together with the existing 

Hermann Strenger and Herbert 
Grünewald foundations, the Bayer foun-
dations have total assets of €20.7 million.

The Bayer Science & Education Founda-
tion promotes school and academic edu-
cation and research focusing on medicine 
and the sciences. It awards scholarships 
to school and university students and 
honors scientists for outstanding achieve-
ments with the Otto Bayer Prize and the 
Hansen Family Award. Annual funding 
totaling €500,000 is channeled into 

Supporting young scientists is part of the focus of the Bayer Group’s reorganized foundation activities. Our pic-

ture shows school students conducting various scientific experiments in the BayLab in Wuppertal.

Leverkusen. Bayer AG is strengthening its commitment in the 

areas of education, science and social affairs by consolidating its 

existing foundation activities into two new foundations: the Bayer 

Science & Education Foundation and the Bayer Cares Founda-

tion.



49The Bayer Cares Foundation, Bayer’s 
foundation for its social activities, focuses 
on three main areas. A new program spe-
cifically promotes voluntary work in the 
vicinities of Bayer’s sites. Citizens who 
conduct their own social projects can 
apply for a subsidy from the Foundation. 
In this way the Foundation intends partic-
ularly to support and honor corporate vol-
unteering activities by Bayer employees. 
Apart from this, the Foundation will pro-
vide advice and training to Bayer employ-
ees and retirees who want to participate 
in local social initiatives or international 
development aid projects, and help  
them make the necessary arrangements. 
It will also subsidize international social 
projects and help provide speedy and 
effective relief for people in acute need 
following natural disasters, for example. 
Bayer AG will provide the Foundation 
with additional funds for this purpose in 
certain cases.

“The new Bayer Cares Foundation thus 
complements Bayer’s social commitment 
and underlines our mission to be a good 
corporate citizen,” comments Dr. Richard 
Pott, Bayer Management Board member 
responsible for strategy and human 
resources and Chairman of the Founda-
tion’s Executive Committee.

Chairman of the Board of Trustees is  
Prof. Dr. André Habisch, Professor of 
Christian Social Ethics and Social Policy 
at the Catholic University of Eichstätt.  
“As part of civil society, companies can 
benefit the community through their 
social commitment,” said Habisch. “In 
this way they build the trust that is essen-
tial for their long-term success. The result 
is a win-win situation for both sides.”

In the future, disabled sports in Germany 
will continue to receive support from the 
Herbert Grünewald Foundation. Bayer is 
among the biggest promoters of disabled 
sports in Germany.

Further information about the founda-
tions is available at  
www.bayer.foundations.com

schools in the communities near Bayer’s 
sites. For example, the Foundation helps 
with setting up laboratories, equipping 
classrooms, introducing innovative teach-
ing methods or implementing initiatives 
such as the “Jugend forscht” science con-
test. As part of its new sports promotion 
strategy, Bayer has announced that it will 
redeploy some of the money previously 
spent on sports advertising to invest more 
in young people’s education. An amount 
of €10 million in foundation assets result-
ing from this redeployment will be used 
to finance school projects.

Given the increased significance of inter-
national experience, the Bayer Science & 
Education Foundation now also provides 
financial assistance to trainee science 
teachers working abroad as well as to 
trainee teachers from other countries 
spending time in Germany. In this respect 
it is so far unique among German science 
foundations. Grants to enable vocational 
trainees to spend periods abroad will con-
tinue to be provided by the Hermann 
Strenger Foundation.

Improving educational opportunities

“The Bayer Science & Education Founda-
tion aims at helping improve educational 
opportunities in the communities near 
our sites, especially in Germany,” 
explains Dr. Wolfgang Plischke, Bayer 
Management Board member with respon-
sibility for innovation, technology and  
the environment and Chairman of the 
Executive Committee of the Foundation. 
“The demands of today’s knowledge-
based society are very extensive and  
varied. We are responding to this situa-
tion by supporting both young talents and 
top specialists in those areas of science 
that are related to our core businesses  
of health care, nutrition and high-tech 
materials.”

Chairman of the Board of Trustees is Prof. 
Dr. Ernst-Ludwig Winnacker, Secretary 
General of the European Research Coun-
cil. “Today more than ever, society must 
invest in education and science, fostering 
its brightest minds. Innovation and the 
availability of knowledge are the key to 
social progress,” explains Winnacker.
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Leverkusen. Bayer is expanding its  
commitment to sustainability and the 
scope of its reporting on the subject. In 
the recently published Sustainable Devel-
opment Report 2006, Bayer not only 
reports its direct greenhouse gas emis-
sions but also becomes one of the first 
companies to report the "indirect" emis-
sions occurring when energy is generated 
by third parties for Bayer’s consumption 
worldwide. The Group’s climate balance, 
drawn up according to the guidelines of 
the International Greenhouse Gas Proto-
col, shows that total specific direct and 
indirect emissions – in other words, emis-
sions in relation to production volume – 
dropped by 2.6 percent in 2006 com-
pared with the previous year. The Report 
provides an in-depth account of the 
Group’s sustainability activities, through 

With environmentally friendly products and modern, efficient production facilities like this one  

in Baytown, United States, Bayer is helping to cut down emissions of greenhouse gases.

which Bayer aims to link commercial  
success to environmental protection and 
social responsibility. The Bayer Sustain-
able Development Report 2006 can be 
ordered free of charge from the  
editor and is also available online at  
www.sustainability.bayer.com

Positive climate balance

The new 

Sustainable  

Development 

Report provides 

comprehensive 

information on  

the Group’s  

activities in this 

field.
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Plans to convert Bayer tower into media facade

Leverkusen. Bayer’s high-rise former 
headquarters building in Leverkusen is 
not to be demolished after all. Instead, 
Bayer plans to convert the tower into a 
media sculpture visible for miles around, 
creating a contemporary visualization of 
the company at its global headquarters. 
The 122-meter tower will become an 
impressive communications tool, with  
3.5 million leds forming animated images 
and light effects. Using the latest technol-
ogy, it will also be possible to display a 
Bayer Cross approximately 40 meters in 
diameter on the east and west facades of 
the tower, irrespective of the time of day. 
All this will make Bayer’s high-rise a con-
spicuous landmark throughout the area, 

The Bayer tower 

will be seen in a 

new light from 

spring 2009. 

proclaiming the location of the company’s 
global headquarters. The new media 
facade is due for completion in spring 
2009.

Awards for Bayer’s Annual 
Report

San Diego/New York. The League of 
American Communications Professionals 
in San Diego has awarded Bayer’s 2006 
Annual Report first place among pharma-
ceutical companies with annual sales 
exceeding us$1 billion, ahead of Merck, 
Novartis, Abbott, AstraZeneca, Pfizer and 
Alcon Laboratories. Bayer thus gained the 
Platinum Award in its category, and also 
earned third place overall among more 
than 2,500 entries received from around 
the world. This success was achieved 
thanks to high scores in the cover page, 
report financials, creativity and message 
clarity categories, with Bayer garnering 
another Platinum Award for the best 
report narrative. The jury was impressed 
by the way the publication gives readers 
quick access to important information 
and also by the cover slogan “Bayer:  
Science For A Better Life” which perfectly 
underscores the Group’s strengths.  
The Annual Report has also received a 
prestigious “Galaxy Award” from u.s. 
independents MerComm Inc., earning 
Gold for the cover page and the online 
version and Silver in the Pharmaceuticals 
category.

Leverkusen. Rivaroxaban, a novel,  
once-daily direct Factor Xa inhibitor in 
tablet form for the prevention and treat-
ment of blood clots, has been shown  
in a Phase iii study to be more effective 
than the current therapeutic standard 
enoxaparin in preventing venous throm-
boembolism (vte) after knee replacement 
surgery. In this study, patients treated 
with rivaroxaban were 49 percent less 
likely to suffer deep-vein thrombosis 
(dvt), pulmonary embolism or death than 
those treated with enoxaparin. There was 
an even greater reduction (62%) in the 
risk of developing major vte. Rivaroxaban 
also demonstrated a similarly low rate of 
major bleeding compared to enoxaparin. 
As an oral treatment, rivaroxaban would 
allow convenient administration in the 
hospital and at home.  

The active ingredient rivaroxaban is 
currently undergoing advanced clinical 
testing in the prevention and treatment of 
acute and chronic thrombosis. It is being 
co-developed by Bayer HealthCare and 
Johnson & Johnson Pharmaceutical 
Research & Development. It is intended to 
submit a regulatory filing for the preven-
tion of vte in orthopedic surgery by the 
end of 2007 in Europe and in 2008 in the 
United States.

Favorable study results  
for rivaroxaban
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Bayer receives  
Takeover Award 2007

the Bad Homburger Kreis – Forum für 
Übernahmerecht (an affiliation of business 
and political leaders) and Deutsche Börse 
AG for the best public takeover in Germany 
from an investor perspective. The expert 
jury was particularly impressed by the 
speed and quality of the acquisition. Bayer 
announced its intention to acquire Schering 
AG in March 2006 and only three months 
later had already gained control of 88 per-
cent of Schering shares.

Bayer now holds more than 96 percent of 
shares in the company, which has since 
been renamed Bayer Schering Pharma AG. 
The acquisition of Schering AG was the 
Bayer Group’s largest-ever corporate trans-
action.

Bayer brought the first CD made from Makrolon®  

onto the market 25 years ago. The picture shows  

Volker Schacher inspecting CDs for impurities.  

In the foreground is a modern production facility.

Klaus Kühn, Bayer cfo (right) received the award 

from Dr. Lutz Raettig, Chairman of the Supervisory 

Board of Morgan Stanley Bank AG

25 years ago:  first CD made from Makrolon®  
high-tech plastic from Bayer MaterialScience

modified several times since then - still 
serves as the material for many data 
storage media. Since production began in 
1982, over 90 billion optical data carriers 
have been made from Makrolon® from 
Bayer MaterialScience.

Leverkusen. It is small and round, pro-
vides enjoyable, crackle-free, crystal-clear 
sound, and it set off an acoustic revolution 
25 years ago: the first pop cd to be made 
from Bayer’s high-tech material Makrolon® 
was abba’s album “The Visitors” in 1982. 
The compact disc produced the songs of 
the Swedish cult band in a sound quality 
that was totally new at the time. Over the 
next few years this technology gradually 
ousted all analog recordings on records 
and magnetic tape. In 1996 it was fol-
lowed by the dvd. Today the first hd-dvd 
and Blu-ray discs have reached the 
shelves, offering up to 80 times the capac-
ity of a cd.
 
Better and better materials and technolo-
gies allow steadily increasing amounts of 
data to be stored on the discs. Developers 
already have their sights set on 800 to 
1,600 gigabyte discs. For the last quarter 
of a century the base material for the stor-
age of digital data has been the high-tech 
plastic Makrolon® from Bayer. The produc-
tion of cds was based from the start on a 
special grade of polycarbonate which –  

Leverkusen/Frankfurt. Bayer recently 
received the German Takeover Award 2007 
for its acquisition of Schering AG, Berlin, 
Germany. The prize is awarded annually by 
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Monheim. At the EuroBlight workshop,  
a European network of scientists and  
other specialists, Infinito® from Bayer Crop-
Science received the best combined rating 
of all established or newly developed potato 
fungicides. The outstanding position of 
Infinito® was confirmed. Infinito® is  
noted for its remarkably consistent and 
high-level efficacy and the lasting protection 
it provides. After launching successfully in 
China, Korea and the United Kingdom,  
Infinito® is now sold in Germany, Austria, 
Poland and the Netherlands too. The com-
pany expects Infinito® to be registered in 
further major markets worldwide during 
2007 and 2008.

Phase III study: Nexavar® extends overall survival  
by 44 percent in liver cancer patients

Berlin. Nexavar® (sorafenib), which has 
already been granted regulatory approval 
for the treatment of renal cell carcinoma 
(kidney cancer), can extend the overall 
survival rate in patients with hepatocellu-
lar carcinoma, or primary liver cancer, by 
44 percent. This was the result of a Phase 
iii clinical study carried out by Bayer 
HealthCare und Onyx Pharmaceuticals, 
Inc. who are jointly developing this medi-
cine to treat various types of cancer. The 
results were presented at the 43rd annual 
meeting of the American Society of Clini-
cal Oncology in Chicago.

The international, Phase iii, placebo-con-
trolled trial randomized and evaluated 
602 liver cancer patients who had no 
prior systemic therapy at sites in the 
Americas, Europe, Australia and New 
Zealand. The primary objective of the 
study was to compare overall survival in 
patients administered Nexavar® versus 
those administered placebo. Median over-
all survival was 10.7 months in Nexavar®-
treated patients compared to 7.9 months 
in those taking placebo.

Based on the strength of the data, regula-
tory approvals are being sought from the 
u.s. Food and Drug Administration and 
the European Medicines Agency.  

Nexavar® is already approved in 50 coun-
tries for the treatment of advanced kidney 
cancer.

Bayer employee David Milczanowski at the pressure 

filter in the production facility for sorafenib, the active 

ingredient in the cancer treatment Nexavar®.

Berlin. Through its technological  
innovations, the Bayer Group is actively 
contributing to environment and climate 
protection. This was demonstrated by the 
two Bayer projects presented at Environ-
ment Week in Schloss Bellevue Park, 
Berlin, at the invitation of German  
President Horst Köhler. Bayer Industry 
Services presented efficient and cost-
effective technology for removing 99.9 
percent of mercury from flue gases. Bayer 
MaterialScience is heading a collabora-
tive project aimed at reducing energy 
consumption in chlorine production. 
Here, energy can be saved by using oxy-
gen depolarized cathode technology for 
the electrolysis of common salt.

Bayer Crop Science’s Infinito® 

receives best combined rating 
Innovative technologies to protect 
the environment             
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Leverkusen. Bayer Innovation GmbH –  
a subsidiary of Bayer AG – has developed a 
leading-edge technology for the manufac-
ture of wound dressings based on silica gel 
fibers. A pilot plant to manufacture the  
bioresorbable dressings was recently inau-
gurated in Leverkusen. The new process 
gives Bayer access to one of the most 
promising future markets in the field of 
medical technology. Accelerated wound 
healing – particularly where large-area, 
slow-healing lesions are concerned – is a 
segment with a very high unmet medical 
need that is therefore likely to offer out-
standing business potential for innovative 
products.  

Leverkusen. Bayer MaterialScience is 
expanding its most important production 
site in the Asia-Pacific region for coating 
and adhesive raw materials. The company 
plans to erect a new 20,000 tpa production 
facility for waterborne polyurethane  
dispersions. The plant is scheduled to come 
on stream in the second quarter of 2008. In 
addition, annual production capacity at the 
site for the aromatic polyisocyanate Desmo-
dur® l will be increased during the second 
half of 2007 to 20,500 tons, nearly twice 
the plant's original 11,000 tpa capacity. 

Bayer MaterialScience expands  
production capacities in Shanghai

Bayer MaterialScience is further expanding its production facilities at the Shanghai integrated site, with a planned 

total investment there of €1.8 billion through 2012.

Production of Desmodur® l began there in 
January 2005. In addition, annual  
capacity for aromatic grades of Desmodur® 
il is to be doubled to 5,500 tons, also by the 
end of 2007. The production of aliphatic 
polyisocyanates of the Desmodur® n series 
is scheduled to be increased by the start of 
2008, with the existing 11,500 tpa plant 
being expanded in line with market growth. 

Berlin. The Dutch regulatory authorities 
have granted Bayer Schering Pharma AG 
national approval for the new low-dose 
oral contraceptive yaz®. The product will 
be registered for oral contraception and 
the treatment of moderate acne in women 
seeking contraception. yaz® has been 
available in the u.s. since April 2006. In 
October 2006 yaz® became the first oral 
contraceptive to be granted regulatory 
approval in the u.s. for the treatment of 
the emotional and physical symptoms 
associated with pmdd (premenstrual dys-
phoric disorder). Bayer Schering Pharma 
AG plans to proceed with an application 
to register the pmdd indication in Europe 
too.

Rapid healing with novel  
wound dressings

YAZ® oral contraceptive approved 
in the Netherlands
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Wolff Walsrode sold to  
Dow Chemical

Leverkusen. The acquisition of Wolff  
Walsrode by The Dow Chemical Company 
has now been completed. The purchase 
price of €540 million includes a cash com-
ponent and the assumption of financial 
debt and pension commitments. Following 
regulatory clearance from the authorities 
in various countries, closing took place on 
June 30, 2007. Dow plans to combine the 
Wolff Walsrode activities with its Water 
Soluble Polymers business.

Leverkusen. Bayer CropScience has com-
pleted the acquisition of u.s. cotton seed 
company Stoneville from Monsanto after the 
u.s. antitrust authorities approved the trans-
action.  The acquisition is aimed at rapidly 
expanding the u.s. cotton seed business of 
Bayer CropScience, which is currently the 
second-largest cotton seed supplier in the 
United States. The purchase of Stoneville’s 
u.s. business is an extension of the compa-
ny’s strategy to grow its presence in the u.s. 
cotton market through new product intro-
ductions, organic growth and acquisitions. 

Bayer CropScience acquires  
U.S. cotton seed company Stoneville

The acquisition of Stoneville is expected to 

strengthen the fast-growing u.s. cotton seed business 

of Bayer CropScience.

Bayer MaterialScience acquires 
Ure-Tech Group of Taiwan

Leverkusen. Bayer MaterialScience 
completed its acquisition of the Ure-Tech 
Group, Taiwan, on July 1, 2007. The move 
has made the company the world’s larg-
est supplier of thermoplastic polyurethane 
(tpu) resins and films. The Asia-Pacific 
market for tpu is assumed to be grow-
ing at a rate of roughly 10 percent a year. 
Bayer MaterialScience will relocate the 
global headquarters of its Thermoplastic 
Polyurethanes (tpu) business unit to Hong 
Kong effective October 1, 2007.

Leverkusen/London. Bayer’s Investor 
Relations activities received top marks in a 
newly published study by the Institutional 
Investor Research Group (iirg) in London. 
Bayer was singled out by buy-side analysts 
and portfolio managers as having the best 
IR activities in the chemicals sector. In addi-
tion, buy-side analysts and portfolio manag-
ers voted Dr. Alexander Rosar, and sell-side 
analysts voted Dr. Jürgen Beunink, “Best ir 
Professional” in the respective category.

The annual survey is one of the most pres-
tigious rankings worldwide, with responses 
received from 1,300 financial experts in 
Europe and North America. Some 900 
respondents were buy-side analysts and 

Top Marks for 
Investor Relations  

portfolio managers, while 450 were sell-side 
analysts who follow developments at com-
panies and make investment recommenda-
tions to banks and securities dealers. In the 
iirg study, securities experts were asked to 
rate the quality of the capital market com-
munications of over 1,500 European com-
panies from 32 different industry sectors.

Voted “Best ir Professionals”:  

Dr. Alexander Rosar (left) and Dr. Jürgen Beunink
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Forward-Looking Statements 
This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements. These statements use words like “believes,” “assumes,” “expects” or similar 
formulations. Various known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors could lead to material differences between the actual 
future results, financial situation, assets, development or performance of our company and those either expressed or implied by these 
statements. These factors include, among other things:

•	downturns in the business cycle of the industries in which we compete;
•	new regulations, or changes to existing regulations, that increase our operating costs or otherwise reduce our profitability;
•	increases in the price of our raw materials, especially if we are unable to pass these costs along to customers; 
•	loss or reduction of patent protection for our products;
•	liabilities, especially those incurred as a result of environmental laws or product liability litigation;
•	fluctuation in international currency exchange rates as well as changes in the general economic climate; and
•	other factors identified in this Annual Report.

These factors include those discussed in our public reports filed with the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and with the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission (including our Form 20-F). In view of these uncertainties, we caution readers not to place undue reliance on these 
forward-looking statements. We assume no liability whatsoever to update these forward-looking statements or to conform them to future 
events or developments.

Important Information from Bayer AG:
This is neither an offer to purchase nor a solicitation of an offer to sell shares or American depositary shares of Bayer Schering Pharma 
AG (formerly Schering AG). Bayer Schering GmbH (formerly Dritte BV GmbH) filed a tender offer statement with the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) with respect to the mandatory compensation offer on November 30, 2006, the time of commencement of 
the mandatory compensation offer. Simultaneously Bayer Schering Pharma AG (formerly Schering AG) filed a solicitation/recommenda-
tion statement on Schedule 14D-9 with the SEC with respect to the mandatory compensation offer. Investors and holders of shares and 
American depositary shares of Bayer Schering Pharma AG (formerly Schering AG) are strongly advised to read the tender offer statement 
and other relevant documents regarding the mandatory compensation offer that have been filed or will be filed with the SEC because they 
contain important information. Investors and holders of shares and American depositary shares of Bayer Schering Pharma AG (formerly 
Schering AG) will be able to receive these documents free of charge at the SEC’s website (www.sec.gov), or at the website www.bayer.
com.  

These documents and information contain forward-looking statements based on assumptions and forecasts made by Bayer Group man-
agement as of the respective dates of such documents. Various known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors could lead to 
material differences between the actual future results, financial situation, development or performance of the Bayer Group and/or Bayer 
Schering Pharma AG (formerly Schering AG) and the estimates contained in these documents and to differences between actions taken by 
the Bayer Group with respect to its investment in Bayer Schering Pharma AG (formerly Schering AG) and the intentions described in these 
documents. These factors include those discussed in reports filed with the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and in our reports filed with the U.S. 
Securities and Exchange Commission (including on Form 20-F). All forward-looking statements in these documents are made as of the 
dates thereof, based on information available to us as of the dates thereof. Except as otherwise required by law, we assume no obligation 
to update or revise any forward-looking statement to reflect new information, events or circumstances after the applicable dates thereof.

The names "Bayer Schering Pharma" or "Schering" as used in this publication always refer to Bayer Schering Pharma AG, Berlin, 
Germany, or its predecessor, Schering AG, Berlin, Germany, respectively.

Please note that Bayer Schering Pharma AG is not legally related to Schering-Plough Corporation, New Jersey, United States. The two 
companies have been totally independent of each other for many years.


